New York Journal of Mathematics

New York J. Math. 16 (2010) 315–359.

# Coactions and Fell bundles

# S. Kaliszewski, Paul S. Muhly, John Quigg and Dana P. Williams

ABSTRACT. We show that for any Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A}$  over a locally compact group G, there is a natural coaction  $\delta$  of G on the Fell-bundle  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  such that the full crossed product  $(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G) \rtimes_{\delta} G$  by the dual action  $\hat{\delta}$  of G is canonically isomorphic to  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ . Hence the coaction  $\delta$  is maximal.

## Contents

Introduction		315
1.	Preliminaries	318
2.	Product bundles	327
3.	Coactions from Fell bundles	329
4.	Transformation bundles	333
5.	Coaction crossed product	334
6.	Semidirect-product bundles	341
7.	Action crossed product	344
8.	The canonical surjection is injective	350
References		358

# Introduction

The theorem announced in the abstract, which we prove as Theorem 8.1, is part of a larger program that is inspired by the realization, which only recently has come into focus, that Fell bundles provide a natural setting for a broad range of imprimitivity theorems and equivalence theorems for  $C^*$ dynamical systems, especially theorems involving nonabelian duality. Even in the context of group actions or coactions, the Fell bundles which arise are over groupoids, and so our approach in this program will involve the recent equivalence theorem of [16] for Fell bundles over groupoids. The present paper is a first step in this larger program: in the course of reformulating the standard  $C^*$ -dynamical system constructions in the context

Received September 18, 2009.

<sup>2000</sup> Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 46L55; Secondary 46M15, 18A25. Key words and phrases. Full crossed product, maximal coaction, Fell bundle.

of Fell bundles, it will be crucial to know that the coactions which arise will always be maximal ones.

Very roughly, a Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A}$  over a locally compact group G is a bundle over G such that the fibre  $A_e$  over the identity e of G is a C<sup>\*</sup>-algebra and such that the fibre  $A_s$  over each  $s \in G$  is an  $A_e - A_e$ -imprimitivity bimodule with the property that  $A_s \otimes_{A_e} A_t$  is isomorphic to  $A_{st}$  in such a way that tensoring gives an associative multiplication on  $\mathscr{A}$ .<sup>1</sup> The space of continuous, compactly supported cross sections of  $\mathscr{A}$ , denoted  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ , carries a natural convolution-like product under which it forms a \*-algebra. A certain completion of this algebra is a  $C^*$ -algebra, denoted  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . One can profitably think of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  as a generalized crossed product of  $A_e$  by G. Indeed, if G acts on a  $C^*$ -algebra B via a continuous homomorphism  $\alpha: G \to \operatorname{Aut}(B)$ , and if  $\mathscr{A}$  is defined to be  $B \times G$ , with product defined by the equation  $(a, s)(b, t) = (a\alpha_s(b), st)$ , then  $\mathscr{A}$  is a Fell bundle over G, called the semidirect-product bundle determined by the action, and the  $C^*$ -crossed product  $B \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  is isomorphic to the bundle  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ .<sup>2</sup> This point was made by Fell in his first works on the subject [9, 10] and was one of the reasons he began the theory of these bundles. Importantly, not every Fell bundle over a group G is isomorphic to such a bundle [12, §§VIII.3.16, VIII.4.7]; thus the results in the present paper properly generalize those (in [3], for example) which directly address group actions.

Coactions were introduced to give a generalization, for nonabelian groups, of the Takai–Takesaki duality for crossed products by actions of abelian groups on  $C^*$ -algebras. Subsequently Katayama proved a crossed-product duality theorem for coactions, specifically, if  $\delta$  is a coaction of a group G on a  $C^*$ -algebra A, then there is a dual action  $\hat{\delta}$  of G on the crossed product  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  such that the *reduced* crossed product  $(A \rtimes_{\delta} G) \rtimes_{\hat{\delta},r} G$  is isomorphic to  $A \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ . Katayama used what are now known as *reduced* coactions, which involve the reduced group  $C^*$ -algebra  $C_r^*(G)$ . For more information on crossed-product duality, see [4, Appendix A].

The use of the term "crossed product" both in the context of group actions and in the context of coactions may seem confusing, initially. However, in practice, it is easy to distinguish between the two.

Raeburn introduced *full* coactions, which involve the full group  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(G)$ , to take advantage of universal properties. For such coactions, there is always a canonical surjection

$$\Phi: A \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G \to A \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G)),$$

and the question naturally arose, when is  $\Phi$  in fact an isomorphism? When this is the case, *full crossed-product duality* is said to hold, and the coaction

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup>We follow the convention that the total space of a Banach bundle is represented in a script font, while the fibres are written in Roman font. Thus if  $p : \mathscr{A} \to X$  is a bundle over a space X, then we'll write  $A_x$  for the fibre  $p^{-1}(x)$  viewed as a Banach space.

 $<sup>^{2}</sup>$ We shall have more to say about semidirect-product bundles in Sections 6 and 7.

 $\delta$  is said to be *maximal*. For example, the dual coaction on a full crossed product by an action is always maximal [3, Proposition 3.4].

Since Fell bundle  $C^*$ -algebras are generalizations of crossed products by actions, it is natural to ask whether there exists a coaction  $\delta$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ , and if so, whether  $\delta$  is maximal. In the present paper, we settle these questions affirmatively; thus our Theorem 8.1 can be regarded as a generalization of [3, Proposition 3.4] to arbitrary Fell bundles over G.

The existence of a coaction on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  was briefly presented in [13] for the case of reduced coactions. In [19] (see also [18]), the third author showed that when the group G is discrete there is in fact a bijective correspondence between Fell bundles over G and coactions of G on  $C^*$ -algebras. Further, in [5] the third author and Echterhoff observed that given a Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A}$  over a discrete group G, there is a natural coaction  $\delta$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  and the crossed product  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G$  is naturally isomorphic to the  $C^*$ -algebra of a Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  over the discrete groupoid  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  obtained by letting G act on itself by left translation. This observation, coupled with the work of the second and fourth authors on the theory of Fell bundles over groupoids [16] (which, in turn, was inspired, in part, by [19]), was the point of departure for the current project.

Indeed, although groupoids do not appear explicitly in the statement of our main theorem, Fell bundles over groupoids are crucial in the techniques we develop for the proof: roughly speaking, crossed products by actions of groups are modeled by Fell bundles over semidirect product groupoids, and crossed products by coactions of groups are modeled by Fell bundles over transformation groupoids. We rely heavily on [16] for the theory and basic results concerning Fell bundles over groupoids. In particular, we make free use of the Disintegration Theorem for Fell bundles [16, Theorem 4.13] which is a generalization of Renault's Disintegration Theorem for groupoids [23, Proposition 4.2]. (See [17, §7] for more discussion and references on Renault's Theorem.)

The plan for our proof of Theorem 8.1 is as follows: The initial two sections are preparatory. Section 1 establishes notation and collects some results that will be used in the sequel. Section 2 addresses some fine points regarding the problem of "promoting" a Fell bundle over a group to a Fell bundle over the product of the group with itself. The first real step in our analysis is taken in Section 3. There we prove in Proposition 3.1 that if  $\mathscr{A}$  is a Fell bundle over a locally compact group G, then there is a natural coaction  $\delta$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  analogous to the dual coaction on a crossed product.

We note in passing that in [7], Exel and Ng prove a result that is similar to our Proposition 3.1. However, their setting is somewhat different from ours in that it uses an older and no-longer-used definition of "full coaction" that was advanced by Raeburn in [20]. Also, their proof is different in certain important respects. So, to keep this note self-contained we present full details.

The second substantial step taken in our analysis is Theorem 5.1, which asserts that there is a natural isomorphism  $\theta$  from the crossed product  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G$  to the  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  of the Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  over the transformation groupoid  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ . As we mentioned above, this isomorphism theorem was inspired by [5]. Section 4 provides the necessary prerequisites for the formulation and proof of Theorem 5.1.

The third major step is Theorem 7.1, which establishes, in the general context of a Fell bundle  $\mathscr{B}$  over a groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ , an isomorphism between the  $C^*$ -algebra of a semidirect-product bundle  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$  (the theory of which is developed in Section 6) and the crossed product of  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$  by a corresponding action of G.

The remainder of the argument occupies Section 8. There, we show that the isomorphism  $\theta$  established in Theorem 5.1 is equivariant for the dual action  $\hat{\delta}$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \times_{\delta} G$  and a natural action of G on

 $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G).$ 

Using this,  $\theta$  is promoted to an isomorphism between the two crossed products. We then apply the result of Section 7 to this natural action to see that the crossed product can be realized as the  $C^*$ -algebra of a certain semidirect-product bundle; this bundle turns out to be isomorphic to one whose  $C^*$ -algebra is easily recognized as  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ . Finally, we show that these isomorphisms combine to give the canonical surjection  $\Phi$ , and this completes our proof of Theorem 8.1.

#### 1. Preliminaries

If A is a  $C^*$ -algebra, then its maximal unitization M(A) ([21, Definition 2.46]) is called the *multiplier algebra* of A. Traditionally, M(A) is realized as the collection of double centralizers. Here we adopt the approach taken in [21], regarding M(A) as the algebra  $\mathcal{L}(A)$  of bounded adjointable operators on A viewed as a right-Hilbert module over itself. (That any two maximal unitizations are naturally isomorphic is guaranteed by [21, Theorem 2.47].) As usual, we let  $\tilde{A}$  be the  $C^*$ -subalgebra of M(A) generated by A and  $1_{M(A)}$ . (Thus  $\tilde{A} = A$  if A is unital, and  $\tilde{A}$  is A with an identity adjoined otherwise.) We use minimal tensor products of  $C^*$ -algebras throughout.

Let G be a locally compact group. We use  $u: G \to M(C^*(G))$  to denote the canonical embedding, although sometimes we will simply identify  $s \in G$ with its image  $u(s) \in M(C^*(G))$ . Similarly, we will usually not distinguish between a strictly continuous unitary homomorphism of G and its unique nondegenerate extension to  $C^*(G)$ . As a general reference for group actions we use [24], and for coactions we refer to [4, Appendix A].

**1.1. Group Actions.** An *action* of G on a  $C^*$ -algebra A is a homomorphism  $\alpha : G \to \operatorname{Aut} A$  such that the map  $s \mapsto \alpha_s(a)$  is norm continuous from

G to A for each  $a \in A$ . A covariant representation of  $(A, G, \alpha)$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is a pair  $(\pi, U)$ , where  $\pi : A \to B(\mathcal{H})$  is a nondegenerate representation and  $U : G \to B(\mathcal{H})$  is a strongly continuous unitary representation, which satisfies the covariance condition

(1.1) 
$$\pi(\alpha_s(a)) = U_s \pi(a) U_s^* \text{ for } a \in A \text{ and } s \in G.$$

More generally, for a  $C^*$ -algebra B, a covariant homomorphism of  $(A, G, \alpha)$ into M(B) is a pair  $(\pi, U)$ , where  $\pi : A \to M(B)$  is a nondegenerate homomorphism and  $U : G \to M(B)$  is a strictly continuous unitary homomorphism, which satisfies (1.1).

A crossed product for  $(A, G, \alpha)$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra  $A \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ , together with a covariant homomorphism  $(i_A, i_G)$  of  $(A, G, \alpha)$  into  $M(A \rtimes_{\alpha} G)$  which is universal in the sense that for any covariant homomorphism  $(\pi, U)$  of  $(A, G, \alpha)$  into M(B) there is a unique nondegenerate homomorphism

$$\pi \rtimes U : A \rtimes_{\alpha} G \to M(B),$$

called the *integrated form* of  $(\pi, U)$ , such that

$$\pi = (\pi \rtimes U) \circ i_A$$
 and  $U = (\pi \rtimes U) \circ i_G$ .

The crossed product is generated by the universal covariant homomorphism in the sense that

$$A \rtimes_{\alpha} G = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{i_A(a)i_G(f) : a \in A \text{ and } f \in C_c(G)\}.$$

The space  $C_c(G, A)$  of compactly supported continuous functions from G into A is a \*-algebra with (convolution) multiplication and involution given by

$$(f * g)(s) = \int_G f(t)\alpha_t(g(t^{-1}s)) dt$$
 and  $f^*(s) = f(s^{-1})^* \Delta(s)^{-1}$ ,

where  $\Delta$  denotes the modular function of G. The algebra  $C_c(G, A)$  embeds as a dense \*-subalgebra of  $A \rtimes_{\alpha} G$  via the map

$$f \mapsto \int_G i_A(f(s))i_G(s) \, ds,$$

so that if  $(\pi, U)$  is a covariant homomorphism of  $(A, G, \alpha)$ , then

$$\pi \rtimes U(f) = \int_G \pi(f(s))U(s) \, ds.$$

**1.2.** Coactions. A coaction of G on a  $C^*$ -algebra A is a nondegenerate injective homomorphism  $\delta : A \to M(A \otimes C^*(G))$  which satisfies the coaction identity

(1.2) 
$$(\delta \otimes \mathrm{id}_G) \circ \delta = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \delta_G) \circ \delta_G$$

and which is *nondegenerate as a coaction* in the sense that

(1.3) 
$$\overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\delta(A)(1\otimes C^*(G))\} = A\otimes C^*(G).$$

Here  $\delta_G : C^*(G) \to M(C^*(G) \otimes C^*(G))$  is the homomorphism determined by the unitary homomorphism of G given by  $s \mapsto u(s) \otimes u(s)$ . Note that condition (1.3) implies nondegeneracy of  $\delta$  as a map into  $M(A \otimes C^*(G))$ .

A covariant representation of  $(A, G, \delta)$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$  is a pair  $(\pi, \mu)$ , where  $\pi : A \to B(\mathcal{H})$  and  $\mu : C_0(G) \to B(\mathcal{H})$  are nondegenerate representations which satisfy the covariance condition

(1.4) 
$$\operatorname{Ad}(\mu \otimes \operatorname{id})(w_G)(\pi(a) \otimes 1) = (\pi \otimes \operatorname{id})(\delta(a)) \text{ for } a \in A.$$

Here  $w_G$  is the element of  $M(C_0(G) \otimes C^*(G))$  which corresponds to the canonical embedding  $u: G \to M(C^*(G))$  under the natural isomorphism of  $M(C_0(G) \otimes C^*(G))$  with the strictly continuous bounded maps from G to  $M(C^*(G))$ . More generally, for any  $C^*$ -algebra B, a covariant homomorphism of  $(A, G, \delta)$  into M(B) is a pair  $(\pi, \mu)$ , where  $\pi : A \to M(B)$  and  $\mu : C_0(G) \to M(B)$  are nondegenerate homomorphisms satisfying (1.4).

A crossed product for  $(A, G, \delta)$  is a  $C^*$ -algebra  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$ , together with a covariant homomorphism  $(j_A, j_G)$  of  $(A, G, \delta)$  into  $M(A \rtimes_{\delta} G)$  which is universal in the sense that for any covariant homomorphism  $(\pi, \mu)$  of  $(A, G, \delta)$  into M(B) there is a unique nondegenerate homomorphism

$$\pi \rtimes \mu : A \rtimes_{\delta} G \to M(B),$$

called the *integrated form* of  $(\pi, \mu)$ , such that

$$\pi = (\pi \rtimes \mu) \circ j_A$$
 and  $\mu = (\pi \rtimes \mu) \circ j_G$ .

The crossed product is generated by the universal covariant homomorphism in the sense that

$$A \rtimes_{\delta} G = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ j_A(a) j_G(f) : a \in A \text{ and } f \in C_0(G) \}.$$

The dual action of G on  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  is the homomorphism  $\hat{\delta} : G \to \operatorname{Aut}(A \rtimes_{\delta} G)$  given on generators by

$$\delta_s(j_A(a)j_G(f)) = j_A(a)j_G(\mathrm{rt}_s(f)),$$

where rt denotes the action of G on  $C_0(G)$  by right translation:  $\operatorname{rt}_s(f)(t) = f(ts)$ .

Given a representation  $\pi$  of A on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , the associated *regular* representation  $\Lambda$  of  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  on  $\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$  is the integrated form

$$\Lambda = ((\pi \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta) \rtimes (1 \otimes M),$$

where  $\lambda$  is the left regular representation of G on  $L^2(G)$  and M is the representation of  $C_0(G)$  on  $L^2(G)$  by multiplication:  $(M_f\xi)(s) = f(s)\xi(s)$ . When  $\pi$  is faithful, the associated regular representation is always faithful [4, Remark A.43(3)], and thus gives an isomorphism between  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  and the concrete  $C^*$ -algebra

$$\Lambda(A \rtimes_{\delta} G) = \overline{\operatorname{span}}\{ (\pi \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta(a)(1 \otimes M_f) : a \in A \text{ and } f \in C_0(G) \}.$$

The canonical surjection associated to  $\delta$  is the map

$$\Phi = \left( (\mathrm{id} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta \rtimes (1 \otimes M) \right) \rtimes (1 \otimes \rho) : A \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G \to A \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G)),$$

where  $\rho$  is the right regular representation of G on  $L^2(G)$ . (It almost goes without saying that, by convention,  $(\lambda_s \xi)(t) = \xi(s^{-1}t)$  and  $(\rho_s \xi)(t) = \xi(ts)\Delta(s)^{1/2}$ .) On the generators,  $\Phi$  is given by

$$\Phi(i_{A\rtimes_{\delta}G}(j_A(a)j_G(f))i_G(g)) = (\mathrm{id}\otimes\lambda)\circ\delta(a)(1\otimes M_f\rho(g))$$

for  $a \in A$ ,  $f \in C_0(G)$ , and  $g \in C^*(G)$ . The coaction  $\delta$  is maximal if the canonical surjection  $\Phi$  associated to  $\delta$  is injective; thus the maximal coactions are precisely those coactions for which full crossed-product duality holds in the sense that  $\Phi$  is an isomorphism of  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\delta} G$  onto  $A \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ .

Some of our coaction calculations will involve the *Fourier-Stieltjes* algebra B(G). (see [4, §§A.4–A.5] for brief survey or [8] for a more detailed treatment). In simple terms the Fourier–Stieltjes algebra B(G) is a space of bounded continuous functions on G which can be identified with the dual space  $C^*(G)^*$  via the formula

$$f(g) = \int_G f(s)g(s) \, ds$$
 for  $f \in B(G)$  and  $g \in C_c(G) \subseteq C^*(G)$ .

By [8, Propositions 3.4 and 3.7], the intersection  $B(G) \cap C_0(G)$  is norm dense in  $C_0(G)$ . For  $f \in B(G)$ , the *slice map*  $\mathrm{id}_A \otimes f : A \otimes C^*(G) \to A$  determined by

$$(\mathrm{id}_A \otimes f)(a \otimes b) = af(b) \text{ for } a \in A \text{ and } b \in C^*(G)$$

extends uniquely to a strictly continuous linear map

$$\operatorname{id}_A \otimes f : M(A \otimes C^*(G)) \to M(A),$$

and moreover such slice maps separate the points of  $M(A \otimes C^*(G))$  ([4, Lemma A.30]).

**1.3. Fell Bundles.** A Fell bundle over a groupoid is a natural generalization of Fell's  $C^*$ -algebraic bundles over groups treated in detail in [12, Chap. VIII] and discussed briefly in the introduction. We will refer to [16] for the particulars of Fell bundles over groupoids. Generally speaking, a *Fell bundle*  $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  is a upper semicontinuous Banach bundle over a locally compact Hausdorff groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$  satisfying the axioms laid out in [16, Definition 1.1].<sup>3</sup> It was observed in [1, Lemma 3.30] that the underlying Banach bundle of an upper semicontinuous Fell bundle over a *group* is necessarily continuous. (The authors of [1] attribute this observation to Exel.) Since all the Fell bundles in this work originate from Fell bundles over groups, they will necessarily be built on continuous Banach bundles.<sup>4</sup> We will assume all the Fell bundles here are *separable* in that  $\mathcal{G}$  is second countable and the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup>There are a number of equivalent definitions of Fell bundles over groupoids in the literature starting with Yamagami's original in [25, Definition 1.1], as well as [14, Definition 6] and [2, Definition 2.1].

 $<sup>^{4}</sup>$ An exception is that in sections 6 and 7 we work with general Fell bundles over groupoids, and there it is not necessary to assume that the underlying Banach bundles are continuous.

Banach space  $\Gamma_0(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  of sections is separable. (This hypothesis is not only a sign of good taste, but it will also ensure that the results of [16] apply.)

We are only interested in groupoids  $\mathcal{G}$  with a continuous Haar system  $\{\lambda^u\}_{u\in\mathcal{G}^{(0)}}$ . Then the set  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G};\mathscr{B})$  of continuous compactly supported sections of  $\mathscr{B}$  has the structure of a \*-algebra:

$$f * g(x) := \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(y)g(y^{-1}x) \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)$$
 and  $f^*(x) := f(x^{-1})^*$ .

Then we can define a norm,  $\|\cdot\|_I$ , on  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  via

$$\|f\|_{I} = \max\left\{\sup_{u\in\mathcal{G}^{(0)}}\int_{\mathcal{G}}\|f(x)\|\,d\lambda^{u}(x),\sup_{u\in\mathcal{G}^{(0)}}\int_{G}\|f(x)\|\,\lambda_{u}(x)\right\}.$$

If  $\mathcal{H}$  is a Hilbert space, then a \*-homomorphism  $L : \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}) \to B(\mathcal{H})$ is called  $\|\cdot\|_I$ -decreasing if  $\|L(f)\| \leq \|f\|_I$  for all f. We say that L is a  $\|\cdot\|_I$ -decreasing representation if it is also nondegenerate in the sense that

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}}\{L(f)\xi : f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}) \text{ and } \xi \in \mathcal{H}\} = \mathcal{H}.$$

Then, by definition, the universal norm on  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  is

 $||f|| := \sup\{ ||L(f)|| : L \text{ is a } ||\cdot||_I \text{-decreasing representation of } \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}) \}.$ 

The completion  $\overline{(\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}), \|\cdot\|)}$  is the C\*-algebra  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$  of the Fell bundle  $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}^{.5}$ 

More generally, a nondegenerate \*-homomorphism  $L: \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \to B(\mathcal{H})$ is called simply a *representation* if L is continuous when  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  is equipped with the inductive limit topology and  $B(\mathcal{H})$  is given the weak operator topology. It is a nontrivial result — a consequence of the Disintegration Theorem ([16, Theorem 4.13]) — that every representation of  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  is  $\|\cdot\|_I$ -decreasing. Since  $\|\cdot\|_I$ -decreasing representations are clearly representations, we see that

 $||f|| = \sup\{ ||L(f)|| : L \text{ is a representation of } \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}) \}$ 

(see [16, Remark 4.14]).

**Lemma 1.1.** Suppose that  $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  is a Fell bundle over a locally compact groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ . If  $\mathcal{H}$  is a locally compact groupoid and  $\varphi: \mathcal{H} \to \mathcal{G}$  is a continuous groupoid homomorphism, then the pull-back  $q: \varphi^* \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{H}$  is a Fell bundle over  $\mathcal{H}$  with multiplication and involution given by

$$(a,h)(b,t) = (ab,ht)$$
 and  $(a,h)^* = (a^*,h^{-1}).$ 

**Proof.** The proof is routine. For example,  $q: \varphi^* \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{H}$  is clearly a Banach bundle (see [11, §II.13.7] where pull-backs are called retractions). The fibre over h is isomorphic to  $B_{\varphi(h)}$ . The Fell bundle structure from  $\mathscr{B}$  makes the latter into a  $B_{r(\varphi(h))} - B_{s(\varphi(h))}$ -imprimitivity bimodule. Since the fibre over

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup>It might be helpful to look over the examples in [16, §2] at this point.

s(h) is isomorphic to  $B_{\varphi(s(h))}$  and  $\varphi(s(h)) = s(\varphi(h))$ , the rest is easy. (Note that when  $\mathcal{G}$  and  $\mathcal{H}$  are groups, this result is [12, §VIII.3.17].)

**1.4. Fell Bundles over Groups.** However, to begin with, we are interested in a (separable, of course) Fell bundle  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  where G is a locally compact group. This case affords a number of simplifications, and also allows us to avoid some of the overhead coming from [16]. Note that a Fell bundle  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  over a group is what Fell and Doran call a  $C^*$ -algebraic bundle over G (see [12, Definitions VIII.16.2 and VIII.3.1]). Since we ultimately treat Fell bundles over groups as a special case of a Fell bundle over a groupoid, our axioms require that  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  is saturated in the sense that  $\overline{\text{span}}\{A_sA_t\} = A_{st}$  for all  $s, t \in G$  (see [12,  $\S$ VIII.2.8]). We will often write  $a_s$  for an element of  $A_s$ ; that is,  $a_s \in \mathscr{A}$  and  $p(a_s) = s$ .

We do make one deviation from the groupoid treatment when building the associated  $C^*$ -algebra,  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . In order that we can easily obtain the usual group  $C^*$ -algebra construction as well as the usual crossed-product construction as special cases, it is convenient to add the modular function,  $\Delta$ , on G to the definition of the involution on  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ :

$$f^*(s) = \Delta(s)^{-1} f(s^{-1})^*$$

(see [12, §VIII.5.6]). Then the somewhat unsatisfactory  $\|\cdot\|_I$  reduces to the normal analog of the  $L^1$ -norm:

$$||f||_1 := \int_G ||f(s)|| \, ds,$$

and the universal norm on  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  is given as the supremum over  $\|\cdot\|_1$ decreasing representations. As we shall see shortly (see Remark 1.5), the isomorphism class of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  is the same as that obtained using the definition of the involution given for groupoids where no modular function is available.

Assuming  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  is a Fell bundle over a group, a \*-homomorphism  $\pi: \mathscr{A} \to M(B)$  is just a map with the obvious algebraic properties. We call  $\pi$  nondegenerate if

$$\overline{\operatorname{span}}\{\pi(A_e)B\} = B.$$

The next lemma shows that  $\mathscr{A}$  comes with a canonical nondegenerate strictly continuous embedding  $\iota : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$ . Then Lemma 1.3 shows that the pair  $(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}), \iota)$  is in fact universal for strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphisms of  $\mathscr{A}$  into multiplier algebras.

**Lemma 1.2.** Let  $p : \mathscr{A} \to G$  be a separable Fell bundle over a locally compact group G. There exists a strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphism  $\iota : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$  such that for  $a_s \in A_s$  and  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ , we have  $\iota(a_s)f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ , with

(1.5) 
$$(\iota(a_s)f)(t) = a_s f(s^{-1}t).$$

**Proof.** For each  $a_s \in A_s$ , (1.5) clearly defines a linear map  $\iota(a_s)$  of  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ into itself. Here we will view  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  as a dense subspace of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ viewed as a Hilbert module over itself. Then the inner product  $\langle f, g \rangle = f^* * g$ is  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ -valued on  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ . It is easy to check that  $\iota(a_s)\iota(a_t) = \iota(a_s a_t)$ , and a straightforward computation shows that

(1.6) 
$$\langle \iota(a_s)f, g \rangle = \langle f, \iota(a_s^*)g \rangle$$

(a similar, but more involved computation is given in detail in the proof of Theorem 5.1). Since  $||a_s||^2 \mathbf{1}_{A_e} - a_s^* a_s \ge 0$  in  $\tilde{A}_e$ , there is a  $b_e \in \tilde{A}_e$  such that  $||a_s||^2 \mathbf{1}_{A_e} - a_s^* a_s = b_e^* b_e$ . Then, since (1.5) makes sense and  $\iota$  is multiplicative for elements of  $\tilde{A}_e$ , and since (1.6) also holds for  $b_e \in \tilde{A}_e$ , we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|a_s\|^2 \langle f, f \rangle - \langle \iota(a_s)f, \iota(a_s)f \rangle &= \langle \iota(\|a_s\|^2 \mathbf{1}_{A_e} - a_s^* a_s)f, f \rangle \\ &= \langle \iota(b_e)f, \iota(b_e)f \rangle \ge 0 \end{aligned}$$

for all  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ . It follows that  $\iota(a_s)$  is bounded and extends to a bounded operator on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  with adjoint  $\iota(a_s^*)$ . It is routine to verify that the resulting map  $\iota : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$  is a \*-homomorphism.

To see that  $\iota$  is nondegenerate, first note that  $A_s$  is an  $A_e - A_e$ -imprimitivity bimodule. Thus if  $\{a_i\}_{i \in I}$  is an approximate identity in  $A_e$ , then  $a_i a_s \to a_s$  for any  $a_s \in A_s$ . Then a messy compactness argument similar to that given in the proof of Theorem 5.1 shows that  $\iota(a_i)f \to f$  in the inductive limit topology on  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  for any  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ . Since convergence in the inductive limit topology implies convergence in the  $C^*$ -norm, this establishes nondegeneracy.

It only remains to prove strict continuity. Our separability assumptions on  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  allow us to invoke [11, Proposition II.13.21] to see that  $\mathscr{A}$  is second countable. Thus, it suffices to show that if  $\{a_{s_n}\}$  is a sequence in  $\mathscr{A}$ converging to  $a_s$ , then  $\iota(a_{s_n}) \to \iota(a_s)$  strictly.

The convergent sequence  $\{a_{s_n}\}$  must lie in a norm-bounded subset of  $\mathscr{A}$ , so the image  $(\iota(a_{s_n}))$  is a bounded sequence in  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$  (because  $\|\iota(a_s)\| \leq \|a_s\|$ ). Thus, it suffices to show that  $\iota(a_{s_n}) \to \iota(a_s)$  \*-strongly; and since  $a_{s_n}^* \to a_s^*$  and  $\iota$  is \*-preserving, it suffices to show strong convergence. Finally, since  $\{\iota(a_{s_n})\}$  is bounded, it suffices to show that  $\iota(a_{s_n})f \to \iota(a_s)f$  in the inductive limit topology, for each  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ .

Suppose not; so there is  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  such that  $\iota(a_{s_n})f$  does not converge to  $\iota(a_s)f$  in the inductive limit topology. Note that since  $s_n \to s$  in G, we can find a compact set  $K \subseteq G$  such that the supports of  $\iota(a_s)f$  and all the  $\iota(a_{s_n})f$  are contained in K, so it must be that the convergence is not uniform on K. So, passing to a subsequence and relabeling, we can find  $\varepsilon > 0$  and  $t_n \to t$  in K such that for all n,

$$\|\iota(a_{s_n})f(t_n) - \iota(a_s)f(t_n)\| \ge \varepsilon.$$

But by joint continuity of multiplication in  $\mathscr{A}$ , we have

$$\iota(a_{s_n})f(t) = a_{s_n}f(s_n^{-1}t) \to a_sf(s^{-1}t) = \iota(a_s)f(t)$$

in  $\mathscr{A}$ . Since this implies that the norm of the difference goes to zero, we have a contradiction.

**Lemma 1.3.** Let  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  be as in Lemma 1.2. If B is a  $C^*$ -algebra and  $\pi_0: \mathscr{A} \to M(B)$  is a strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphism, then there is a unique nondegenerate homomorphism  $\pi: C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(B)$ , called the integrated form of  $\pi_0$ , such that  $\pi \circ \iota = \pi_0$ . Moreover,

(1.7) 
$$\pi(f) = \int_{G} \pi_0(f(s)) \, ds \quad \text{for } f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}).$$

Conversely, every nondegenerate \*-homomorphism of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  is the integrated form of some such  $\pi_0$ .

**Remark 1.4.** Note that the integral in (1.7) makes sense since  $\pi_0 \circ f$  is strictly continuous so that we can apply, for example, [21, Lemma C.11].

**Proof.** It is straightforward to check that (1.7) defines a \*-homomorphism  $\pi : \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}) \to M(B).$ 

To see that  $\pi$  is nondegenerate, we need to see that

span{ 
$$\pi(f)b: f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$$
 and  $b \in B$  }

is dense in *B*. To this end, fix  $a \in A_e$  and choose  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  such that f(e) = a. Let  $\{\varphi_k\}$  be a sequence in  $C_c^+(G)$  with integral one whose supports shrink to the identity. Let  $f_k(s) = \varphi_k(s)f(s)$ . Then it is not hard to see that  $\pi(f_k)b \to \pi_0(a)b$ . Therefore, the nondegeneracy of  $\pi$  follows from that of  $\pi_0$ .

If  $L: B \to B(\mathcal{H})$  is a faithful representation, then  $L \circ \pi$  is a  $\|\cdot\|_1$ -decreasing representation of  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ . By the definition of the universal norm,

$$||L \circ \pi(f)|| \le ||f||.$$

Since the extension of L to M(B) is isometric,  $||\pi(f)|| \leq ||f||$ . Therefore,  $\pi$  extends to  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ .

To prove uniqueness, we need to establish that

(1.8) 
$$\int_{G} \iota(f(s)) \, ds = f,$$

where the equality in (1.8) is meant in  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$ . Therefore, it suffices to see that

(1.9) 
$$\left(\int \iota(f(s)) ds\right)g = \int_G \iota(f(s))g ds = f * g \text{ for all } g \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}).$$

Thus we need to establish that the  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ -valued integral in the middle of (1.9) takes values in (the image of)  $\Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  in  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  and coincides with f\*g. This can be verified almost exactly as in the proof of [24, Lemma 1.108].

Now, if  $\rho : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(B)$  is a homomorphism such that  $\rho \circ \iota = \pi_0$ , then by (1.8), for each  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  we must have

$$\rho(f) = \rho\left(\int_G \iota(f(s)) \, ds\right) = \int_G \rho(\iota(f(s))) \, ds = \int_G \pi_0(f(s)) \, ds = \pi(f).$$

For the converse, let  $\pi : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(B)$  be a nondegenerate \*-homomorphism. By nondegeneracy,  $\pi$  extends to a strictly continuous homomorphism of  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$ , so that  $\pi \circ \iota$  is a strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphism of  $\mathscr{A}$  whose integrated form, by uniqueness, is  $\pi$ .

**Remark 1.5** (Modular Differences). If  $p : \mathscr{A} \to G$  is a Fell bundle over a locally compact *group*, then we could just as well have formed the  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*_{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A})$  by treating G as a groupoid. (That is, by leaving the modular function off the involution.) To see that  $C^*_{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A})$  and  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  are naturally isomorphic, we first observe that Lemma 1.2 and Lemma 1.3 remain valid for  $C^*_{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A})$  using virtually the same proofs; the only difference is that Equations (1.5) and (1.7) must be modified to deal with the lack of modular function in the involution:

(1.5') 
$$(\iota'(a_s)f)(t) = \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}}a_sf(s^{-1}t)$$
 and

(1.7') 
$$\pi(f) = \int_{G} \pi'_{0}(f(s)) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds$$

Then notice that there is a \*-isomorphism  $\varphi : \Gamma_c^{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A}) \to \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  given by  $\varphi(f)(s) = \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}f(s)$ . We just need to see that  $\varphi$  is isometric with respect to the universal norm  $\|\cdot\|_{\mathrm{Gr}}$  on  $C^*_{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A})$  and  $\|\cdot\|$  on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . To verify this, let M be a faithful representation of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . Then M is the integrated form of  $M_0 : \mathscr{A} \to B(\mathcal{H})$ . But if L is the representation of  $C^*_{\mathrm{Gr}}(G, \mathscr{A})$  which is the integrated form of  $M_0$ , then

$$\|\varphi(f)\| = \|M(\varphi(f))\| = \|L(f)\| \le \|f\|_{\mathrm{Gr}}$$

On the other hand, if L is a faithful representation of  $C^*_{Gr}(G, \mathscr{A})$  which is the integrated form of  $L_0$ , then we can let M be the representation of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  that is integrated up from  $L_0$ . Then

$$\|\varphi(f)\| \ge \|M(\varphi(f))\| = \|L(f)\| = \|f\|_{Gr}.$$

Thus  $\varphi$  is isometric.

**Remark 1.6.** The same comments about modular functions apply to the standard group  $C^*$ -algebra and crossed product constructions; that is, one can omit the modular function in the definition of the involution and arrive at isomorphic algebras. However, you have pay for the luxury of modular-free involutions by adding the modular function to the integrated form of any representation as in (1.7').

**Proposition 1.7.** Let  $p: \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a locally compact groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ , and let  $X_0$  be a dense subspace of a right Hilbert A-module X. Suppose that L is a algebra homomorphism of  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  into the linear operators,  $\operatorname{Lin}(X_0)$ , on  $X_0$  such that for all  $x, y \in X_0$ :

- (i)  $\left\langle L(f)x, y \right\rangle_{\!\!\!A} = \left\langle x, L(f^*)y \right\rangle_{\!\!\!A}$ ,
- (ii)  $f \mapsto \langle L(f)x, y \rangle_A$  is continuous in the inductive limit topology, and
- (iii) span{  $L(f)x : f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $x \in X_0$  } is dense in X.

Then L is bounded with respect to the universal  $C^*$ -norm on  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and extends to a nondegenerate homomorphism  $L: C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \to \mathcal{L}(\mathsf{X})$ .

**Proof.** This proposition is a consequence of the disintegration result [16, Theorem 4.13] for Fell bundles. To see this, let  $\rho$  be a state on A. Then

$$(x \mid y)_{\rho} := \rho(\langle y , x \rangle_{A})$$

is a pre-inner product on  $X_0$ . After modding out by the subspace  $\mathcal{N}$  of vectors of length zero, we get a pre-Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}_0 := X_0/\mathcal{N}$  which we view as a subspace of its completion  $\mathcal{H}$ . Since

$$(L(f)x \mid L(f)x)_{\rho} = (x \mid L(f^* * f)x)_{\rho},$$

it follows from the Cauchy Schwartz inequality that L(f) maps  $\mathcal{N}$  to itself. Therefore L(f) defines a linear operator  $L^{\rho}(f)$  on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  via  $L^{\rho}(f)(x + \mathcal{N}) = L(f)x + \mathcal{N}$ . It is clear that  $L^{\rho}$  defines a pre-representation of  $\mathscr{B}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_0$  as in [16, Definition 4.1]. Then [16, Theorem 4.13] implies that

$$(L(f)x \mid L(f)x)_{\rho} \le ||f||^{2} (x \mid x)_{\rho}$$

Since this holds for all states  $\rho$ , we have  $||L(f)|| \le ||f||$ . The rest is straightforward.

**Proposition 1.8.** Let  $\mathscr{A}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ . Every \*-homomorphism from  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A})$  into a C\*-algebra which is continuous from the inductive limit topology into the norm topology is bounded for the universal norm, and hence has a unique extension to  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A})$ .

**Proof.** Suppose that  $\pi : \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A}) \to B$  is such a homomorphism, and that  $\rho : B \to B(\mathcal{H})$  is a faithful representation of B on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let

$$\mathcal{H}_1 = \overline{\operatorname{span}} \{ \rho \circ \pi(f) \xi : f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A}), \xi \in \mathcal{H} \}.$$

Then  $f \mapsto \rho \circ \pi(f)|_{\mathcal{H}_1}$  is a representation of  $\mathscr{A}$  on  $\mathcal{H}_1$  in the sense of [16, Definition 4.7], since the operator norm topology is stronger than the weak operator topology. By [16, Remark 4.14],

$$\|\pi(f)\| = \|\rho \circ \pi(f)\| = \|\rho \circ \pi(f)|_{\mathcal{H}_1}\| \le \|f\| \quad \text{for all } f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A}). \quad \Box$$

## 2. Product bundles

If  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  is a Fell bundle over a locally compact group G, then the Cartesian product,  $\mathscr{A} \times G$ , carries a natural Fell bundle structure over  $G \times G$ . The bundle projection  $q: \mathscr{A} \times G \to G \times G$  is given by q(a,t) = (p(a),t) and the multiplication and involution are given by

$$(a_s, t)(b_r, u) = (a_s b_r, tu)$$
 and  $(a_s, t)^* = (a_s^*, t^{-1}).$ 

(Indeed, the map  $(a,t) \mapsto (a,(p(a),t))$  is a bijection of  $\mathscr{A} \times G$  onto the pull-back Fell bundle  $\varphi^* \mathscr{A}$  — see Lemma 1.1 — where  $\varphi : G \times G \to G$  is the projection onto the first factor.)

Every section  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$  is of the form

$$h(s,t) = (h_1(s,t),t),$$

where  $h_1 \in C_c(G \times G, \mathscr{A})$  satisfies  $h_1(s,t) \in A_s$  for  $s,t \in G$ . For  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$  we let  $f \boxtimes g$  denote the element of  $\Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$  defined by

$$(f \boxtimes g)(s,t) = (f(s)g(t),t)$$

Lemma 2.1. With the above notation,

span{ 
$$f \boxtimes g : f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}) \text{ and } g \in C_c(G)$$
 }

is inductive-limit dense in  $\Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$ .

**Proof.** Put  $S = \{ f \boxtimes g : f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}), g \in C_c(G) \}$ . Then for each  $(s,t) \in G \times G, \{ h(s,t) : h \in S \}$  is easily seen to be dense in  $A_s \times \{t\}$ , which is the fibre of the bundle  $\mathscr{A} \times G$  over (s,t). Furthermore if  $u, v \in C_c(G)$  and  $u \otimes v$  is the function in  $C_c(G \times G)$  given by  $u \otimes v(s,t) = u(s)v(t)$ , then  $(u \otimes v)h \in S$  for all  $u, v \in C_c(G)$  and  $h \in S$ . Then, because the  $u \otimes v$ 's span an inductive-limit dense subspace of  $C_c(G \times G)$ , a straightforward partition of unity argument implies that span S is dense as required (see [11, Proposition II.14.6 and its remark] or [24, Proposition C.24]).

For the study of the coaction associated to a Fell bundle over a group (specifically, in Section 5) we will need the following slight variation on Lemma 2.1:

**Lemma 2.2.** Let  $\mathscr{A} \to G$  be a Fell bundle. For  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ define  $f \bullet g \in C_c(G \times G, \mathscr{A})$  by

$$f \bullet g(s,t) = f(s)g(s^{-1}t),$$

and define

$$f \star g(s,t) = (f \bullet g(s,t), t).$$

Then  $f \star g \in \Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$ , and such sections have inductive-limit-dense span.

**Proof.** It is obvious that  $f \star g \in \Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$ . For the second statement, let

$$\mathcal{S} = \operatorname{span} \{ f \star g : f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}) \text{ and } g \in C_c(G) \}.$$

To show that S is dense, we want to invoke a partition of unity argument exactly as in Lemma 2.1; thus it suffices to establish the following two assertions:

- (i) For each  $(s,t) \in G \times G$ , the set  $\{h(s,t) : h \in S\}$  is dense in  $A_s \times \{t\}$ .
- (ii) For each  $\kappa, \eta \in C_c(G)$  and  $h \in S$  we have  $(\kappa \bullet \eta)h \in S$ , where similarly to the above we define  $\kappa \bullet \eta(s,t) = \kappa(s)\eta(s^{-1}t)$ .

(Note that (ii) suffices since the set of functions of the form  $\kappa \bullet \eta$  have dense span in  $C_c(G \times G)$  for the inductive limit topology, because this set is the image of the set  $\{u \otimes v : u, v \in C_c(G)\}$  under the linear homeomorphism  $\Psi: C_c(G \times G) \to C_c(G \times G)$  defined by

$$\Psi(\varphi)(s,t) = \varphi(s,s^{-1}t),$$

and the functions  $u \otimes v$  have dense span in the inductive limit topology.)

For (i), if  $a_s \in A_s$  we can choose  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$  such that  $f(s) = a_s$  and  $g(s^{-1}t) = 1$ , and then

$$f \star g(s,t) = (a_s,t).$$

For (ii), just observe that

$$(\kappa \bullet \eta)(f \star g) = (\kappa f) \star (\eta g).$$

## 3. Coactions from Fell bundles

As mentioned in the introduction, if  $\alpha$  is an action of a locally compact group G on a  $C^*$ -algebra B, then  $\mathscr{A} = B \times G$  has a natural Fell-bundle structure such that  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \cong B \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ . Then the dual coaction on  $B \rtimes_{\alpha} G$ gives us a coaction on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . In this section, we show that if  $p : \mathscr{A} \to G$ is any Fell bundle, then  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  admits a natural coaction  $\delta$  generalizing the dual coaction construction just described.

**Proposition 3.1.** Let  $\mathscr{A}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a group G. There is a unique coaction  $\delta$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  such that

(3.1) 
$$\delta(\iota(a_s)) = \iota(a_s) \otimes s \quad \text{for } a_s \in A_s \text{ and } s \in G.$$

**Proof.** For the proof we will make explicit the canonical map  $u : G \to M(C^*(G))$ . Consider the map  $\delta_0 : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$  defined by  $\delta_0(a_s) = \iota(a_s) \otimes u(s)$ . This clearly gives a \*-homomorphism of  $\mathscr{A}$ , and nondegeneracy of  $\delta_0$  follows directly from nondegeneracy of  $\iota$ . That  $\delta_0$  is strictly continuous follows from strict continuity of  $\iota : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}))$  and  $u : G \to M(C^*(G))$ . To see this, let  $a_{s_i} \to a_s$  in  $\mathscr{A}$ , and let  $x \in C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$ . Since  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  embeds nondegenerately in  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$  via  $b \mapsto b \otimes 1$ , by the Hewitt–Cohen factorization theorem we can write  $x = (b \otimes 1)y$  for some  $b \in C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  and  $y \in C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$ . Since  $\iota(a_{s_i})b \to \iota(a_s)b$  in norm, we have  $\iota(a_{s_i})b \otimes 1 \to \iota(a_s)b \otimes 1$  in norm in  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$ . Since the map  $u : G \to M(C^*(G))$  is strictly continuous, and since  $a_{s_i} \to a_s$  implies  $s_i \to s$  in G, we have  $(1 \otimes u(s_i))y \to (1 \otimes u(s))y$  in norm in  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$ . Since multiplication is norm continuous,

$$(\iota(a_{s_i}) \otimes u(s_i))x = (\iota(a_{s_i}) \otimes u(s_i))(b \otimes 1)y = (\iota(a_{s_i})b \otimes 1)(1 \otimes u(s_i))y$$

converges in norm to

$$(\iota(a_s)b\otimes 1)(1\otimes u(s))y = (\iota(a_s)\otimes u(s))x.$$

Thus Lemma 1.3 gives a unique nondegenerate \*-homomorphism  $\delta$  :  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$  such that  $\delta \circ \iota = \delta_0$ , and by (1.7) we have

$$\delta(f) = \int_{G} \iota(f(s)) \otimes u(s) \, ds \quad \text{for } f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}).$$

To see that  $\delta$  is injective, let  $1_G : G \to \mathbb{C}$  be the constant function with value 1, and regard  $1_G$  as an element of the Fourier–Stieltjes algebra  $B(G) = C^*(G)^*$ . Then for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  equation (1.8) and strict continuity of the slice map give

$$(\mathrm{id}\otimes 1_G)(\delta(f)) = \int (\mathrm{id}\otimes 1_G)(\iota(f(s))\otimes u(s))\,ds = \int \iota(f(s))\,ds = f.$$

Thus  $(\mathrm{id} \otimes 1_G) \circ \delta = \mathrm{id}_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A})}$  by continuity and density, so  $\delta$  is injective. Now if  $a_s \in A_s$ , then

$$\begin{aligned} (\delta \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \delta_0(a_s)) &= (\delta \otimes \mathrm{id})(\iota(a_s) \otimes u(s)) = \iota(a_s) \otimes u(s) \otimes u(s) \\ &= (\mathrm{id} \otimes \delta_G)(\iota(a_s) \otimes u(s)) = (\mathrm{id} \otimes \delta_G) \circ \delta_0(a_s). \end{aligned}$$

Thus the coaction identity (1.2) follows from uniqueness in Lemma 1.3 together with the usual manipulations with vector valued integrals as justified, for example, in [21, Lemma C.11].

Finally, for the nondegeneracy condition (1.3), we elaborate on the argument sketched in the paragraph preceding [7, Lemma 1.3]. Consider the map  $\zeta_0 : \mathscr{A} \times G \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$  defined by  $\zeta_0(a_s, t) = \iota(a_s) \otimes u(t)$ , where  $\mathscr{A} \times G$  is the Fell bundle over  $G \times G$  defined in Section 2. Arguing as for  $\delta_0$  shows that  $\zeta_0$  is a strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphism, and so Lemma 1.3 gives a nondegenerate \*-homomorphism  $\zeta : C^*(G \times G, \mathscr{A} \times G) \to M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$  such that  $\zeta \circ \iota = \zeta_0$ .

In particular, using (1.7) and (1.8) we have, for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ ,

$$\begin{split} \zeta(f \boxtimes g) &= \int_{G \times G} \zeta_0 \big( (f \boxtimes g)(s, t) \big) \, d(s, t) \\ &= \int_G \int_G \zeta_0(f(s)g(t), t) \, ds \, dt \\ &= \int_G \iota(f(s)) \, ds \otimes \int_G g(t)u(t) \, dt \\ &= f \otimes g, \end{split}$$

which implies that  $\zeta$  maps  $C^*(G \times G, \mathscr{A} \times G)$  onto (and into)  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$ .

Similarly, if  $f \star g$  is the element of  $\Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$  defined in Lemma 2.2, then for  $a \otimes b \in C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$  we have

$$\zeta(f \star g)(a \otimes b) = \int_{G \times G} \zeta_0(f \star g)(s, t)(a \otimes b) \, d(s, t)$$

COACTIONS AND FELL BUNDLES

$$= \int_G \int_G \zeta_0(f(s)g(s^{-1}t), t)(a \otimes b) dt ds$$
$$= \int_G \int_G \iota(f(s))a \otimes g(s^{-1}t)u(t)b dt ds$$

which, after  $t \mapsto st$ , is

$$\begin{split} &= \int_G \int_G \iota(f(s))a \otimes g(t)u(st)b\,dt\,ds \\ &= \int_G \int_G \left(\iota(f(s)) \otimes u(s)\right) \left(a \otimes g(t)u(t)b\right)dt\,ds \\ &= \left(\int_G \delta_0(f(s))\,ds\right) \left(\int_G 1 \otimes g(t)u(t)\,dt\right)(a \otimes b) \\ &= \delta(f)(1 \otimes g)(a \otimes b). \end{split}$$

Thus, the multiplier  $\delta(f)(1 \otimes g)$  of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$  coincides with the image  $\zeta(f \star g)$ . The set of sections of the form  $f \star g$  was shown in Lemma 2.2 to have dense span in  $\Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$ , so the images  $\zeta(f \star g)$  have dense span in  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G)$ . It follows that  $\delta$  satisfies the nondegeneracy condition (1.3).

**Remark 3.2.** It is clear from the above proof that saturation of the Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A} \to G$  is not necessary for Proposition 3.1.

**Remark 3.3.** Not every coaction is isomorphic to one constructed from a Fell bundle as in Proposition 3.1 [13, Example 2.3(6)]. For *abelian* G, in [6, Theorem 11.14] Exel effectively characterizes which coactions do arise from Fell bundles (modulo the correspondence between coactions of G and actions of the Pontryagin dual group  $\widehat{G}$ ).

**Proposition 3.4.** Let  $\mathscr{A}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a group G, and let  $\delta$  be the coaction of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  described in Proposition 3.1. Further let  $\pi_0 : \mathscr{A} \to M(B)$  be a strictly continuous nondegenerate \*-homomorphism, with integrated form  $\pi : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(B)$ , and let  $\mu : C_0(G) \to M(B)$  be a nondegenerate homomorphism. Then the pair  $(\pi, \mu)$  is a covariant homomorphism of  $(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}), G, \delta)$  if and only if

(3.2)  $\pi_0(a_s)\mu(f) = \mu \circ \operatorname{lt}_s(f)\pi_0(a_s)$  for  $s \in G$ ,  $a_s \in A_s$  and  $f \in C_0(G)$ ,

where lt is the action of G on  $C_0(G)$  by left translation:  $lt_s(f)(t) = f(s^{-1}t)$ .

**Proof.** First assume that  $(\pi, \mu)$  is covariant. Because  $B(G) \cap C_0(G)$  is dense in  $C_0(G)$ , it suffices to verify (3.2) for  $f \in B(G)$ . So fix  $f \in B(G)$ , and put  $g = \operatorname{lt}_s(f) \in B(G)$ . By [4, Proposition A.34], we have

 $(\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) ((\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G)) = \mu(g)$ 

where  $\operatorname{id} \otimes g : M(C_0(G) \otimes C^*(G)) \to M(C_0(G))$  denotes the slice map. Then

 $\mu \circ \operatorname{lt}_s(f)\pi_0(a_s) = \mu(g)\pi_0(a_s) = (\operatorname{id}_B \otimes g)\big((\mu \otimes \operatorname{id})(w_G)\big)\pi_0(a_s)$ 

which, by [4, Lemma A.30], is

$$= (\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) \big( (\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G)(\pi(\iota(a_s)) \otimes 1) \big)$$

which, by the covariance condition (1.4), is

$$= (\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) ((\pi \otimes \mathrm{id})(\delta(\iota(a_s)))(\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G))$$
  
=  $(\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) ((\pi(\iota(a_s)) \otimes u(s))(\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G))$   
=  $(\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) ((\pi_0(a_s) \otimes 1)(\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})((1 \otimes u(s))w_G))$ 

which, after applying [4, Lemma A.30] and writing  $(lt_{s^{-1}} \otimes id)(w_G)$  for the multiplier  $r \mapsto u(sr)$ , is

$$= \pi_0(a_s)(\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g)\big((\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})\big((\mathrm{lt}_{s^{-1}} \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G)\big)\big)$$

which, since  $(\mu \otimes id) \circ (lt_{s^{-1}} \otimes id) = \mu \circ lt_{s^{-1}} \otimes id$  as a nondegenerate homomorphism of  $C_0(G) \otimes C^*(G)$  into  $M(B) \otimes C^*(G) \subseteq M(B \otimes C^*(G))$ , is

$$= \pi_0(a_s)(\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) \big( (\mu \circ \mathrm{lt}_{s^{-1}} \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G) \big)$$

which, by [4, Proposition A.34], is

$$= \pi_0(a_s)\mu \circ \operatorname{lt}_{s^{-1}}(g)$$
$$= \pi_0(a_s)\mu(f).$$

Conversely, the above computation can be rearranged to show that, if (3.2) holds, then

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) \big( (\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G)(\pi(\iota(a_s)) \otimes 1) \big) \\ &= (\mathrm{id}_B \otimes g) \big( (\pi \otimes \mathrm{id})(\delta(\iota(a_s)))(\mu \otimes \mathrm{id})(w_G) \big) \end{aligned}$$

for every  $g \in B(G)$ . Since slicing by elements of B(G) separates points in  $M(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(G))$ , it follows that the covariance condition (1.4) holds for every a of the form  $\iota(a_s)$ , which then implies (by Lemma 1.3) that it holds for every element of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ .

We include the following proposition since it might be useful elsewhere, although we will not need it in the present paper.

**Proposition 3.5.** If  $\alpha$  is an action of a group G on a  $C^*$ -algebra B, and  $\mathscr{A} \to G$  is the associated semidirect-product Fell bundle, then the isomorphism

$$B\rtimes_{\alpha}G\cong C^*(G,\mathscr{A})$$

carries the dual coaction  $\hat{\alpha}$  to the coaction  $\delta$  of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  described in Proposition 3.1.

**Proof.** We recall that the isomorphism  $\theta : B \rtimes_{\alpha} G \to C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  is characterized on generators by

$$\theta(i_B(b)i_G(f)) = \int_G f(s)\iota(b,s) \, ds \quad \text{for } b \in B \text{ and } f \in C_c(G)$$

(which follows from [12, §VIII.5.7]). Thus,

$$\begin{split} \delta \circ \theta(i_B(b)i_G(f)) &= \int_G f(s)\delta(\iota(b,s)) \, ds \\ &= \int_G f(s)\iota(b,s) \otimes s \, ds \\ &= \int_G f(s)(\theta \otimes \mathrm{id})(i_B(b)i_G(s) \otimes s) \, ds \\ &= \int_G f(s)(\theta \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \hat{\alpha}(i_B(b)i_G(s)) \, ds \\ &= (\theta \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \hat{\alpha}(i_B(b)i_G(f)). \end{split}$$

## 4. Transformation bundles

Having defined a coaction  $\delta$  on the  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  of a Fell bundle over a group, an obvious next step is to consider the corresponding crossed product. In the next section, we will show that  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G$  is isomorphic to the  $C^*$ -algebra of a Fell bundle over a groupoid. The purpose of this short section is to describe that groupoid and Fell bundle.

Let G be a locally compact group, and let  $G \times_{\text{lt}} G$  denote the transformation groupoid associated to the action lt of G on itself by left translation, with multiplication and inverse

$$(s,tr)(t,r) = (st,r)$$
 and  $(s,t)^{-1} = (s^{-1},st)$  for  $s,t,r \in G$ .

Note that the unit space is  $(G \times_{\text{lt}} G)^0 = \{e\} \times G$ , and the range and source maps are given by

$$r(s,t) = (e,st)$$
 and  $s(s,t) = (e,t)$ .

It it not hard to check that we get a left Haar system on  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  via

$$\int_{G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G} f(u, v) \, d\lambda^{r(s,t)}(u, v) = \int_G f(u, u^{-1}st) \, du \quad \text{for } f \in C_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G).$$

Now let  $\mathscr{A} \to G$  be a Fell bundle over the locally compact group G. The map  $\varphi : (s,t) \mapsto s$  is a groupoid homomorphism of  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  onto the group G. The pull-back Fell bundle  $\varphi^*\mathscr{A}$  (see Lemma 1.1) will be called the *transformation Fell bundle*  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \to G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ . We will use the bijection  $(a_s, (s,t)) \mapsto (a_s, t)$  to identify the total space of  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  with the Cartesian product  $\mathscr{A} \times G$ . Then the multiplication is

$$(a_s, tr)(b_t, r) = (a_s b_t, r)$$
 for  $s, t, r \in G, a_s \in A_s$  and  $b_t \in A_t$ ,

and the involution is

$$(a_s, t)^* = (a_s^*, st).$$

For future reference, the convolution in  $\Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  is given by

(4.1) 
$$(h * k)(s, t) = \int_G h(u, u^{-1}st)k(u^{-1}s, t) \, du$$

and the involution by

(4.2) 
$$h^*(s,t) = h((s,t)^{-1})^* = h(s^{-1},st)^*.$$

Note that every  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  is of the form

$$h(s,t) = (h_1(s,t),t)$$

for a continuous function  $h_1: G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \to \mathscr{A}$  with  $h_1(s,t) \in A_s$ .

#### 5. Coaction crossed product

Our purpose in this section is to prove the following:

**Theorem 5.1.** Let  $\mathscr{A}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a group G, and let  $\delta$  be the associated coaction on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  described in Proposition 3.1. If  $q : \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \to G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  is the transformation Fell bundle constructed in the preceding section, then there is an isomorphism

$$\theta: C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \to C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$$

such that

(5.1) 
$$\theta(j_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_G(g)) = (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g \text{ for } f \in \Gamma_c(G;\mathscr{A}) \text{ and } g \in C_c(G),$$
  
where  $(\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G;\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  is defined by

$$((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g)(s,t) = (\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}}f(s)g(t),t).$$

**Remark 5.2.** For G discrete, this is a special case of [5, Corollary 2.8].

**Proof.** We will obtain  $\theta$  as the integrated form of a covariant homomorphism  $(\theta_{\mathscr{A}}, \theta_G)$  of  $(C^*(G, \mathscr{A}), G, \delta)$  into  $M(C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))$  such that

(5.2) 
$$\theta_{\mathscr{A}}(f)\theta_G(g) = (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f) \boxtimes g \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$$

for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ . It will follow that  $\theta = \theta_{\mathscr{A}} \rtimes \theta_G$  maps  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  into  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ , satisfies (5.1), and is surjective because

$$\{ f \boxtimes g : f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}), g \in C_c(G) \}$$

has inductive-limit-dense span in  $\Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ . We will show that  $\theta$  is injective by finding a representation  $\Pi$  of  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  such that  $\Pi \circ \theta$  is a faithful regular representation of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G$ .

We will obtain  $\theta_{\mathscr{A}} : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))$  as the integrated form of a \*-homomorphism  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}} : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))$ 

(as in Lemma 1.3). Given  $a_s \in A_s$ , we define an operator  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)$  on  $\Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  by<sup>6</sup>

(5.3) 
$$(\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h)(t,r) = (a_s h_1(s^{-1}t,r)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},r).$$

Then it is straightforward to verify that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t) = \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_sa_t)$ . Moreover, if  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ , we have

$$\langle \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h, k \rangle(t,r) = \left( (\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h)^* * k \right)(t,r)$$

which, in view of the formula for convolution given by (4.1), is

$$= \int_{G} (\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h)^*(u, u^{-1}tr) \, k(u^{-1}t, r) \, du$$

which, using the formula for the involution given by (4.2), is

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{G} (\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s})h)(u^{-1},tr)^{*} k(u^{-1}t,r) \, du \\ &= \int_{G} \left( a_{s}h_{1}(s^{-1}u^{-1},tr)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},tr \right)^{*} \left( k_{1}(u^{-1}t,r),r \right) \, du \\ &= \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(s^{-1}u^{-1},tr)^{*}a_{s}^{*}\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},u^{-1}tr \right) \left( k_{1}(u^{-1}t,r),r \right) \, du \\ &= \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(s^{-1}u^{-1},tr)^{*}a_{s}^{*}k_{1}(u^{-1}t,r),r \right) \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} du \end{split}$$

which, after sending  $u \mapsto us^{-1}$ , is

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(u^{-1},tr)^{*}a_{s}^{*}k_{1}(su^{-1}t,r),r \right) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}}du \\ &= \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(u^{-1},tr)^{*},u^{-1}tr \right) \left( a_{s}^{*}k_{1}(su^{-1}t,r)\Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}},r \right) du \\ &= \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(u^{-1},tr),tr \right)^{*} \left( a_{s}^{*}k_{1}(su^{-1}t,r)\Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}},r \right) du \\ &= \int_{G} h(u^{-1},tr)^{*}(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s}^{*})k)(u^{-1}t,r) du \\ &= \int_{G} h^{*}(u,u^{-1}tr)(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s}^{*})k)(u^{-1}t,r) du \\ &= \left( h^{*}*(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s}^{*})k) \right)(t,r) \\ &= \langle h, \theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s}^{*})k \rangle(t,r). \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup>The operator  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)$  defined in (5.3) is analogous to  $\iota(a_s)$  defined in Lemma 1.2. The modular function appearing in its definition is required to make  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  \*-preserving. We need it here because there is no modular function in the involution in  $\Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ .

If we choose  $b_e \in \tilde{A}_e$  such that  $||a_s||^2 \mathbf{1}_{A_e} - a_s^* a_s = b_e^* b_e$ , then since  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  makes sense and is multiplicative on  $\tilde{A}_e$ , and since the preceding computation certainly holds for  $b_e \in \tilde{A}_e$ , we see that

$$\begin{aligned} \|a_s\|^2 \langle h, h \rangle - \langle \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h, \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)h \rangle &= \langle \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(\|a_s\|^2 \mathbf{1}_{A_e} - a_s^* a_s)h, h \rangle \\ &= \langle \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(b_e)h, \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(b_e)h \rangle \ge 0 \end{aligned}$$

for all  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ . Thus  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_s)$  extends to a bounded adjointable operator on  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  and we get a \*-homomorphism  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}} : \mathscr{A} \to M(C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))$ .

We need to show that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  is strictly continuous and nondegenerate. For nondegeneracy, let  $\{e_i\}$  be an approximate identity in  $A_e$ . It suffices to show that if  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  then  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h \to h$  in the inductive limit topology.<sup>7</sup> Notice that

$$\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h(r,t) = (e_ih_1(r,t),t).$$

Since each  $A_r$  is an  $A_e - A_e$ -imprimitivity bimodule,  $e_i h_1(r, t) \to h_1(r, t)$  for any  $(r, t) \in G \times_{\text{lt}} G$ . Fix  $\varepsilon > 0$ . Since  $a \mapsto ||a||$  is continuous on  $\mathscr{A}$ , we can cover supp  $h_1$  with open sets  $V_1, \ldots, V_n$  and find  $a_i \in A_e$  such that

$$||a_j h_1(r,t) - h_1(r,t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3} \quad \text{for all } (r,t) \in V_j.$$

Let  $\{\varphi_j\} \subseteq C_c^+(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  be such that  $\operatorname{supp} \varphi_j \subseteq V_j$  and  $\sum_j \varphi_j(r,t) \leq 1$  for all (r,t), with equality for  $(r,t) \in \operatorname{supp} h_1$ . Define  $a \in C_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, A_e)$  by

$$a(r,t) = \sum_{j} \varphi_j(r,t) a_j.$$

Then

$$||a(r,t)h_1(r,t) - h_1(r,t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3}$$
 for all  $(r,t)$ .

Clearly, there is an  $i_0$  such that  $i \ge i_0$  implies that

$$|e_i a(r,t) - a(r,t)|| < \frac{\varepsilon}{3(||h_1||_{\infty} + 1)}$$
 for all  $(r,t)$ .

Since  $||e_i|| \leq 1$  for all *i*, we see that  $i \geq i_0$  implies

$$\begin{split} \|\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h(r,t) - h(r,t)\| \\ &= \|e_ih_1(r,t) - h_1(r,t)\| \\ &\leq \|e_ih_1(r,t) - e_ia(r,t)h_1(r,t)\| + \|e_1a(r,t)h_1(r,t) - a(r,t)h_1(r,t)\| \\ &+ \|a(r,t)h_1(r,t) - h_1(r,t)\| \\ &\leq 2\|h_1(r,t) - a(r,t)h_1(r,t)\| + \|e_ia(r,t) - a(r,t)\|\|h_1\|_{\infty} \\ &< \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} + \frac{\varepsilon}{3} = \varepsilon. \end{split}$$

<sup>7</sup>This could be proved using [16, Lemma 8.1]. However, the proof of that lemma given in [16] is incorrect. Fortunately, it can be fixed along the same lines as presented here.

Therefore  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h \to h$  uniformly, so since  $\operatorname{supp} \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h = \operatorname{supp} h$  for all i, we have  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(e_i)h \to h$  in the inductive limit topology, as desired.

Finally, for strict continuity we note that our separability assumption on  $p: \mathscr{A} \to G$  guarantees that  $\mathscr{A}$  is second countable [11, Proposition II.13.21]. Thus, it suffices to show that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  takes convergent sequences to strictly convergent sequences.

So suppose  $\{a_i\}$  is a sequence converging to a in  $\mathscr{A}$ . Let s = p(a), and for each i, let  $s_i = p(a_i)$ ; so  $s_i \to s$  in G. Since  $\{a_i\}$  must lie in a norm-bounded subset of  $\mathscr{A}$ , the image  $\{\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)\}$  is a bounded sequence in  $M(C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))$ . Thus it suffices to show that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i) \to \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a)$ \*-strongly [21, Proposition C.7]. Since  $a_i^* \to a^*$  and  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  is \*-preserving, it suffices to show strong convergence. Since  $\{\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)\}$  is bounded, it suffices to show that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)h \to \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a)h$  in the inductive limit topology for each  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ .

We can replace  $\{a_i\}$  by a subsequence (keeping the same notation) such that the  $s_i$ 's lie in a fixed compact neighborhood of s. Then the supports of the  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)h$ 's all lie in a fixed compact set, so it suffices to show that  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)h \to \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a)h$  uniformly. If not, then there are  $(r_i, t_i)$ , all lying in a compact subset of  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ , and an  $\varepsilon > 0$  such that

(5.4) 
$$\|\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_i)h(r_i,t_i) - \theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a)h(r_i,t_i)\| \ge \varepsilon.$$

Of course, we can pass to a subsequence, relabel, and assume that  $(r_i, t_i) \rightarrow (r, t)$ . But the left-hand side of (5.4) equals

(5.5) 
$$\|a_i h_1(s_i^{-1} r_i, t_i) - a h_1(s^{-1} r_i, t_i)\|$$

Since  $(a_i, h_1(s_i^{-1}r_i, t_i))$  and  $(a, h_1(s^{-1}r_i, t_i))$  both converge to  $(a, h_1(s^{-1}r, t))$ in  $\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{A}$ , and since multiplication is continuous from  $\mathscr{A} \times \mathscr{A} \to \mathscr{A}$ , it follows that  $a_i h_1(s_i^{-1}r_i, t_i) - ah_1(s^{-1}r_i, t_i)$  tends to  $0_{A_r}$  in  $\mathscr{A}$ . Therefore, (5.5) tends to zero, and this contradicts (5.4). Thus  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  is strictly continuous.

Having dealt with  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$ , we turn to the definition of  $\theta_G$ . For  $f \in C_0(G)$ and  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  define

(5.6) 
$$(\theta_G(f)h)(s,t) = (f(st)h_1(s,t),t).$$

We note that (5.6) makes perfectly good sense for  $f \in C_0(G)^{\sim}$ , and then  $\theta_G(fg) = \theta_G(f)\theta_G(g)$  for  $f, g \in C_0(G)^{\sim}$ . Another computation shows that

$$\langle \theta_G(f)h, k \rangle = \langle h, \theta_G(\overline{f})k \rangle$$

for all such f. Writing  $||f||_{\infty}^2 - \overline{f}f = \overline{g}g$  for some  $g \in C_0(G)^{\sim}$ , we thus have

$$\|f\|_{\infty}^{2}\langle h, h\rangle - \langle \theta_{G}(f)h, \theta_{G}(f)h\rangle = \langle \theta_{G}(g)h, \theta_{G}(g)h\rangle \ge 0$$

for all *h*. Therefore  $\theta_G(f)$  is bounded and we get a \*-homomorphism of  $C_0(G)$  into  $M(C^*(G \times_{\operatorname{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \rtimes_{\operatorname{lt} G}))^{.8}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup>In fact, modulo the obvious identification of G with  $(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)^{(0)}$ ,  $\theta_G$  is just the natural map of  $C_0(\mathcal{G}^{(0)})$  into the multiplier algebra of the  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$  of a Fell bundle over a groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$ .

We let  $\theta_{\mathscr{A}}$  be the integrated form of  $\theta_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  (see Lemma 1.3). To see that  $(\theta_{\mathscr{A}}, \theta_G)$  is covariant, we will use Proposition 3.4. For  $a_s \in A_s$ ,  $f \in C_c(G)$ ,  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times G; \mathscr{A} \times G)$ , and  $r, t \in G$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s})\theta_{G}(f)h\right)(r,t) &= \left(a_{s}(\theta_{G}(f)h)_{1}(s^{-1}r,t)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},r\right) \\ &= \left(a_{s}f(s^{-1}rt)h_{1}(s^{-1}r,t)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},r\right) \\ &= \left(\operatorname{lt}_{s}(f)(rt)a_{s}h_{1}(s^{-1}r,t)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}},r\right) \\ &= \left(\operatorname{lt}_{s}(f)(rt)(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s})h)_{1}(r,t),r\right) \\ &= \left(\theta_{G}\circ\operatorname{lt}_{s}(f)\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(a_{s})h\right)(r,t). \end{aligned}$$

To verify (5.2), for  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\theta_{\mathscr{A}}(f)\theta_{G}(g)h\right)(s,t) &= \int \left(\theta_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(f(r))\theta_{G}(g)h\right)(s,t)\,dr \\ &= \int \left(f(r)(\theta_{G}(g)h)_{1}(r^{-1}s,t)\Delta(r)^{\frac{1}{2}},t\right)\,dr \\ &= \int \left(f(r)g(r^{-1}st)h_{1}(r^{-1}s,t)\Delta(r)^{\frac{1}{2}},t\right)\,dr \\ &= \int \left(f(r)\Delta(r)^{\frac{1}{2}}g(r^{-1}st),r^{-1}st\right)\left(h_{1}(r^{-1}s,t),t\right)\,dr \\ &= \int \left((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g\right)(r,r^{-1}st)h(r^{-1}s,t)\,dr \\ &= \left(\left((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g\right)*h\right)(s,t).\end{aligned}$$

As outlined at the start of the proof, it follows from the above that the integrated form  $\theta = \theta_{\mathscr{A}} \rtimes \theta_G$  maps  $A \rtimes_{\delta} G$  onto  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ . To show that  $\theta$  is faithful, we will now construct a representation  $\Pi$  of  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  such that  $\Pi \circ \theta$  is the regular representation  $\Lambda = (\pi_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta \rtimes (1 \otimes M)$  associated to a faithful representation  $\pi_{\mathscr{A}}$  of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$ . This will suffice since  $\Lambda$  is faithful by [4, Remark A.43(3)].

So let  $\pi_{\mathscr{A}}$  be a faithful nondegenerate representation of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Of course,  $\pi_{\mathscr{A}}$  is the integrated form of a representation  $\pi_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  of  $\mathscr{A}$ , by Lemma 1.3. For  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  and  $\xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq$  $\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$ , define  $\Pi_0(h)\xi : G \to \mathcal{H}$  by

(5.7) 
$$(\Pi_0(h)\xi)(t) = \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} (h_1(s, s^{-1}t))\xi(s^{-1}t)\Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds;$$

the integrand is in  $C_c(G \times G, \mathcal{H})$ , so (5.7) does define a vector in  $\mathcal{H}$ , and  $\Pi_0(h)\xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$ . It follows that (5.7) defines a linear operator  $\Pi_0(h)$  on the dense subspace  $C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$  of  $\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$ .

By [16, Theorem 4.13], to show that  $\Pi_0$  extends to a representation

$$\Pi: C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \to B(\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)),$$

it suffices to show that  $\Pi_0$  is a *pre-representation* of  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  on  $C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$ . Recall from [16, Definition 4.1] that to say that  $\Pi_0$  is a pre-representation means that  $\Pi_0 : \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \to \mathrm{Lin}(C_c(G, \mathcal{H}))$  (where  $\mathrm{Lin}(C_c(G, \mathcal{H}))$ ) denotes the algebra of all linear operators on the vector space  $C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$ ) is an algebra homomorphism such that for all  $\xi, \eta \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$ :

- (i)  $h \mapsto \langle \Pi_0(h)\xi, \eta \rangle$  is continuous in the inductive limit topology;
- (ii)  $\langle \Pi_0(h)\xi, \eta \rangle = \langle \xi, \Pi_0(h^*)\eta \rangle$ ; and
- (iii)  $\Pi_0(\Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G))C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$  has dense span in  $\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$ .

 $\Pi_0$  is obviously linear; we verify that it is multiplicative: for

$$f, g \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \text{ and } \xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$$

we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left( \Pi_0(f * g) \xi \right)(t) \\ &= \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} \left( (f * g)_1(s, s^{-1}t) \right) \xi(s^{-1}t) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, ds \\ &= \int_G \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} \left( f_1(r, r^{-1}t) g_1(r^{-1}s, s^{-1}t) \right) \xi(s^{-1}t) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, ds \, dr \end{aligned}$$

which, after  $s \mapsto rs$ , is

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{G} \int_{G} \pi_{0}^{\mathscr{A}} \left( f_{1}(r, r^{-1}t) g_{1}(s, s^{-1}r^{-1}t) \right) \xi(s^{-1}r^{-1}t) \Delta(rs)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds dr \\ &= \int_{G} \pi_{0}^{\mathscr{A}} \left( f_{1}(r, r^{-1}t) \right) \\ &\quad \cdot \left( \int_{G} \pi_{0}^{\mathscr{A}} \left( g_{1}(s, s^{-1}r^{-1}t) \right) \xi(s^{-1}r^{-1}t) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds \right) \Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr \\ &= \left( \Pi_{0}(f) \Pi_{0}(g) \xi \right)(t). \end{split}$$

For (i), it suffices to show that if  $K \subseteq G \times G$  is compact and  $\{h_n\}$  is a sequence converging uniformly to 0 in  $\Gamma_K(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$  then

$$\langle \Pi_0(h_n)\xi, \eta \rangle \to 0$$
 for all  $\xi, \eta \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H}).$ 

We have

which converges to 0 since the integrands converge uniformly to 0 and the integration is over a compact set.

For (ii) we have

$$\langle \Pi_0(h)\xi,\eta\rangle = \int_G \langle (\Pi_0(h)\xi)(t),\eta(t)\rangle dt$$

$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \left\langle \pi_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(h_{1}(s, s^{-1}t))\xi(s^{-1}t) , \eta(t) \right\rangle \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt \, ds$$
$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \left\langle \xi(s^{-1}t) , \pi_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(h_{1}(s, s^{-1}t)^{*})\eta(t) \right\rangle \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt \, ds$$

which, after  $t \mapsto st$ , is

$$= \int_G \int_G \left\langle \xi(t), \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}}(h_1(s,t)^*)\eta(st) \right\rangle \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt \, ds$$

which, after  $s \mapsto s^{-1}$ , is

$$= \int_G \int_G \langle \xi(t) , \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}}(h_1(s^{-1}, t)^*)\eta(s^{-1}t) \rangle \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt ds$$
  
$$= \int_G \int_G \langle \xi(t) , \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}}((h^*)_1(s, s^{-1}t))\eta(s^{-1}t) \rangle \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds dt$$
  
$$= \int_G \langle \xi(t) , (\Pi_0(h^*)\eta)(t) \rangle dt$$
  
$$= \langle \xi , \Pi_0(h^*)\eta \rangle.$$

For (iii), it suffices to show that for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$  we have

$$\Pi_0((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g) = (\pi_{\mathscr{A}}\otimes\lambda)\circ\delta(f)(1\otimes M_g),$$

because the ranges of the operators on the right-hand side have dense span in  $\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$  since the regular representation of  $A \times_{\delta} G$  is nondegenerate. For  $\xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H})$  we have

$$\begin{split} \left(\Pi_0 \big( (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} f) \boxtimes g \big) \xi \big) (t) &= \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} \big( (f \boxtimes g)_1 (s, s^{-1} t) \big) \xi (s^{-1} t) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} ds \\ &= \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} (f(s)) g(s^{-1} t) \xi (s^{-1} t) ds \\ &= \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} (f(s)) (M_g \xi) (s^{-1} t) ds \\ &= \int_G \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} (f(s)) (\lambda_s M_g \xi) (t) ds \\ &= \int_G \big( \big( \pi_0^{\mathscr{A}} (f(s)) \otimes \lambda_s M_g \big) \xi \big) (t) ds \\ &= \int_G \big( \big( \pi_{\mathscr{A}} (\iota(f(s))) \otimes \lambda_s M_g \big) \xi \big) (t) ds \\ &= \int_G \big( \big( \pi_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \lambda \big) (\iota(f(s)) \otimes u(s) \big) \big( 1 \otimes M_g \big) \xi \big) (t) ds \\ &= \int_G \big( (\pi_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta(\iota(f(s))) (1 \otimes M_g) \xi \big) (t) ds \\ &= \big( (\pi_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta(f) (1 \otimes M_g) \xi \big) (t). \end{split}$$

As we explained above, we now can conclude that  $\Pi_0$  extends uniquely to a nondegenerate representation  $\Pi$  of  $C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ , and then the above calculation verifies that  $\Pi \circ \theta$  agrees with the regular representation  $\Lambda = (\pi_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta \times (1 \otimes M)$  on the generators  $j_A(f)j_G(g)$  for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$ and  $g \in C_c(G)$ . Hence  $\Pi \circ \theta = \Lambda$  on all of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \times_{\delta} G$  by linearity, continuity, and density.  $\Box$ 

#### 6. Semidirect-product bundles

To prove our main theorem in Section 8, we are going to need to build a Fell bundle over groupoid arising as a semidirect product. In this section, we give the construction of this *semidirect-product Fell bundle*. We will investigate the structure of the corresponding Fell bundle  $C^*$ -algebra in Section 7.

To begin, let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a locally compact Hausdorff groupoid with Haar system  $\{\lambda^u\}_{u\in\mathcal{G}^{(0)}}$ , and let G be a second countable locally compact group. An *action* of G on  $\mathcal{G}$  is a homomorphism  $\beta: G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathcal{G}$  such that  $(x,t) \mapsto \beta_t(x)$  is continuous from  $\mathcal{G} \times G$  to  $\mathcal{G}$ . (Note that automorphisms of a groupoid do not necessarily fix the unit space pointwise.) Given an action  $\beta$  of G on  $\mathcal{G}$ , the *semidirect-product groupoid*  $\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G$  comprises the Cartesian product  $\mathcal{G} \times G$  with multiplication

$$(x,t)(y,s) = (x\beta_t(y),ts)$$

whenever  $s(x) = \beta_t(r(y))$  and inverse  $(x, t)^{-1} = (\beta_{t^{-1}}(x^{-1}), t^{-1})$  ([22, Definition I.1.7]). Note that we have  $(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G)^0 = \mathcal{G}^0 \times \{e\}$ , with

$$r(x,t) = (r(x),e)$$
 and  $s(x,t) = (\beta_t^{-1}(s(x)),e)$ 

Also note that  $C_c(\mathcal{G}) \odot C_c(G)$  is inductive-limit dense in  $C_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G)$ .

Now suppose  $p : \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  is a separable Fell bundle over  $\mathcal{G}$ . An action of G on  $\mathscr{B}$  is a homomorphism  $\alpha : G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathscr{B}$  such that  $(b,t) \mapsto \alpha_t(b)$  is continuous from  $\mathscr{B} \times G \to \mathscr{B}$ , together with an associated action  $\beta$  of G on  $\mathcal{G}$  such that  $p(\alpha_t(b)) = \beta_t(p(b))$  for all  $t \in G$  and  $b \in \mathscr{B}$ .

**Remark 6.1.** The compatibility of  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  allows us to write down, for each  $t \in G$ , an automorphism  $\overline{\alpha}_t$  of  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  given by

(6.1) 
$$\overline{\alpha}_t(f)(x) = \alpha_t \left( f(\beta_t^{-1}(x)) \right).$$

Since  $\overline{\alpha}_t$  is clearly continuous from the inductive limit topology to the norm topology, it follows from Proposition 1.8 that  $\overline{\alpha}_t$  extends to an automorphism of  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$ . Similarly,  $t \mapsto \overline{\alpha}_t(f)$  is continuous from G into  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$ , so we obtain an action  $\overline{\alpha}$  of G on  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$ .

**Proposition 6.2.** Let  $\alpha$  be an action of G on a Fell bundle  $p : \mathscr{A} \to \mathcal{G}$ , with associated action  $\beta$  of G on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Then the Banach bundle  $q : \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G \to \mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G$ with total space  $\mathscr{B} \times G$  and bundle projection q(b,t) = (p(b),t) becomes a Fell bundle when equipped with the multiplication given by

$$(b_x, t)(c_y, s) = (b_x \alpha_t(c_y), ts)$$
 whenever  $s(x) = r(\beta_t(y))$ 

and the involution given by

$$(b_x, t)^* = (\alpha_{t^{-1}}(b_x)^*, t^{-1}).$$

We refer to a Fell bundle which arises from a group action as in Proposition 6.2 as a *semidirect-product Fell bundle*.

Sketch of Proof. For convenience, we'll write  $C_{(x,t)}$  for the fibre of  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$  over (x, t). Verifying the axioms that  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$  is a Fell bundle is routine with the possible exception of seeing that  $C_{(x,t)}$  is a  $C_{(r(x),e)} - C_{(\beta_t^{-1}(s(x)),e)}$ -imprimitivity bimodule via the operations inherited from  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$ . However,  $C_{(x,t)}$  is naturally identified with  $B_x$ , and the latter is given to be a  $B_{r(x)} - B_{s(x)}$ -imprimitivity bimodule with respect to the operations inherited from  $\mathscr{B}$ . Furthermore,  $\alpha_t$  restricts to a  $C^*$ -algebra isomorphism of  $B_{\beta_t^{-1}(s(x))}$  onto  $B_{s(x)}$ . Therefore  $B_x$  is naturally a  $B_{r(x)} - B_{\beta_t^{-1}(s(x))}$ -imprimitivity bimodule. The right action is given by  $x \cdot b = x\alpha_t(b)$  and the right inner product is given by

$$\langle x, y \rangle_{B_{\beta_t^{-1}(s(x))}} = \alpha_t^{-1} \big( \langle x, y \rangle_{B_{s(x)}} \big).$$

Now it is a simple matter to see that the given operations in  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$  induce the same structure on  $C_{(x,t)}$  as does the identification of  $C_{(x,t)}$  with  $B_x$ .  $\Box$ 

In order to have a Haar system on a semidirect-product groupoid  $\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G$ , we will need  $\beta$  to be compatible with the Haar system on  $\mathcal{G}$  in the following sense.

**Definition 6.3.** An action  $\beta : G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathcal{G}$  is *invariant* if for all  $u \in \mathcal{G}^{(0)}$ ,  $f \in C_c(\mathcal{G})$ , and  $t \in G$  we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} f(\beta_t(y)) \, d\lambda^u(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(y) \, d\lambda^{\beta_t(u)}(y)$$

i.e.,  $\beta_t$  transforms the measure on  $r^{-1}(u)$  to the measure on  $r^{-1}(\beta_t(u))$ . If  $\alpha: G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathscr{B}$  is an action on a Fell bundle  $\mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  with associated action  $\beta: G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathcal{G}$ , we say  $\alpha$  is *invariant* if  $\beta$  is.

**Proposition 6.4.** Let  $\beta : G \to \operatorname{Aut} \mathcal{G}$  be an invariant action on a groupoid  $\mathcal{G}$  with Haar system  $\{\lambda^u\}_{u \in \mathcal{G}^{(0)}}$ . Then

$$d\lambda^{(u,e)}(y,s) = d\lambda^u(y) \, ds$$

is a Haar system on  $\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G$ .

**Proof.** The left-invariance property we need is that for  $h \in C_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G)$  and  $(x,t) \in \mathcal{G} \times_\beta G$  we have

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}\times G} h\big((x,t)(y,s)\big) \, d\lambda^{s(x,t)}(y,s) = \int_{\mathcal{G}\times G} h(y,s) \, d\lambda^{r(x,t)}(y,s),$$

and it suffices to take  $h = f \otimes g$ , where  $f \in G_c(\mathcal{G})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ . Fix  $x \in \mathcal{G}$ with s(x) = v and r(x) = u. In the left-hand integral we must have

$$(r(y), e) = r(y, s) = s(x, t) = (\beta_t^{-1}(s(x)), e) = (\beta_t^{-1}(v), e),$$

and in the right-hand integral we must have

$$(r(y), e) = (r(x), e) = (u, e).$$

Since

$$(x,t)(y,s) = (x\beta_t(y),ts),$$

we must show that

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} f(x\beta_t(y))g(ts) \, ds \, d\lambda^{\beta_t^{-1}(v)}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} f(y)g(s) \, ds \, d\lambda^u(y).$$

We have

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} f(x\beta_{t}(y))g(ts) \, ds \, d\lambda^{\beta_{t}^{-1}(v)}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(x\beta_{t}(y)) \int_{G} g(ts) \, ds \, d\lambda^{\beta_{t}^{-1}(v)}(y)$$
$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(x\beta_{t}(y)) \, d\lambda^{\beta_{t}^{-1}(v)}(y) \int_{G} g(s) \, ds$$

and similarly

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} f(y)g(s) \, ds \, d\lambda^{u}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(y) \, d\lambda^{u}(y) \int_{G} g(s) \, ds,$$

so it remains to verify

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} f(x\beta_t(y)) \, d\lambda^{\beta_t^{-1}(v)}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(y) \, d\lambda^u(y).$$

But invariance of the action  $\beta$  gives

$$\int_{\mathcal{G}} f(x\beta_t(y)) \, d\lambda^{\beta_t^{-1}(v)}(y) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} f(xy) \, d\lambda^v(y),$$

which equals  $\int_{\mathcal{G}} f(y) d\lambda^u(y)$  because  $\lambda$  is a Haar system.

For reference, we record the formula for convolution in  $C_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G)$ :

$$(h * k)(x, t) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} h(y, s) k \left( \beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y).$$

Thus in  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$  the convolution is given by

$$\begin{split} (h*k)(x,t) &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} h(y,s) k \left( \beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} (h_{1}(y,s),s) \left( k_{1} \left( \beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \right), s^{-1}t \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \left( h_{1}(y,s) \alpha_{s} \left( k_{1} \left( \beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \right) \right), t \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y). \end{split}$$

As with product bundles (see Section 2), each section  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ is of the form

$$h(x,t) = (h_1(x,t),t),$$

where  $h_1 \in C_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B})$  satisfies  $h_1(x, t) \in B_x$ . So in particular

(6.2) 
$$(h * k)_1(x, t) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_G h_1(y, s) \alpha_s \left( k_1 \left( \beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \right) \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y).$$

The involution in  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  is given by

$$h^{*}(x,t) = h((x,t)^{-1})^{*} = h(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}), t^{-1})^{*} = (h_{1}(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}), t^{-1}), t^{-1})^{*} = (\alpha_{t}(h_{1}(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}), t^{-1})^{*}), t),$$

so in particular

$$h_1^*(x,t) = \alpha_t \left( h_1 \left( \beta_t^{-1}(x^{-1}), t^{-1} \right)^* \right).$$

#### 7. Action crossed product

We now relate the  $C^*$ -algebra of a semidirect-product bundle to the crossed product.

**Theorem 7.1.** Let  $p : \mathscr{B} \to \mathcal{G}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a locally compact Hausdorff groupoid with Haar system  $\{\lambda^u\}_{u \in G^{(0)}}$ , and let  $\alpha : G \to$ Aut  $\mathscr{B}$  be an action of a second countable locally compact group G on  $\mathscr{B}$ with an invariant associated action  $\beta$  of G on  $\mathcal{G}$ . Let

$$q:\mathscr{B}\times_{\alpha}G\to\mathcal{G}\times_{\beta}G$$

denote the associated semidirect-product Fell bundle over the semidirectproduct groupoid as defined in Section 6, and let  $\overline{\alpha} : G \to \operatorname{Aut} C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$ denote the concomitant action described in Remark 6.1. Then there is a unique isomorphism

$$\sigma: C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \rtimes_{\overline{\alpha}} G \longrightarrow C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$$

such that if  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$  then  $\sigma(i_{\mathscr{B}}(f)i_G(g))$  is the continuous compactly supported section of  $\mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G$  given by

(7.1) 
$$\sigma(i_{\mathscr{B}}(f)i_G(g))(x,t) = (f(x)g(t)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}},t).$$

**Proof.** Uniqueness is immediate from density. For existence, we will obtain  $\sigma$  as the integrated form of a covariant homomorphism  $(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}, \sigma_G)$  of  $(C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}), G, \overline{\alpha})$  into  $M(C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G))$  such that

(7.2) 
$$\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)\sigma_{G}(g) = f \boxtimes (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g) \in \Gamma_{c}(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$$

for  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ . It will follow that  $\sigma$  maps  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \rtimes_{\overline{\alpha}} G$ into  $C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ , satisfies (7.1), and is surjective because the sections in (7.2) have inductive-limit-dense span in  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ .

To define  $\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}$ , we appeal to Proposition 1.7, viewing  $C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$  as a right Hilbert module over itself, with dense subspace  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ . For  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  we define a linear operator  $\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)$  on  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$  by

$$\left(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h\right)(y,t) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} \left(f(x)h_1(x^{-1}y,t),t\right) d\lambda^{r(y)}(x) dx^{r(y)}(x) dx^{r(y)}($$

Seeing that  $\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}: \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}) \to \operatorname{Lin}(\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G))$  is an algebra homomorphism is straightforward: for  $f, g \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(g)h\right)(y,t) &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \left(f(x)\left(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(g)h\right)_{1}(x^{-1}y,t),t\right) d\lambda^{r(y)}(x) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \left(f(x)g(z)h_{1}(z^{-1}x^{-1}y,t),t\right) d\lambda^{s(x)}(z) \, d\lambda^{r(y)}(x) \end{aligned}$$

which, after using Fubini and sending  $z \mapsto x^{-1}z$ , is

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \left( f(x)g(x^{-1}z)h_1(z^{-1}y,t),t \right) d\lambda^{r(y)}(x) \, d\lambda^{r(y)}(z) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \left( f * g(z)h_1(z^{-1}y,t),t \right) d\lambda^{r(y)}(z) \\ &= \left( \sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f * g)h \right)(y,t). \end{split}$$

Thus, it remains to verify that  $\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}$  satisfies (i), (ii) and (iii) of Proposition 1.7.

To check (i), we compute as follows. For  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G; \mathcal{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ , we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h , k \right\rangle_{1}(x,t) &= \left( (\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h)^{*} * k )_{1}(x,t) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} (\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h)^{*}_{1}(y,s) \alpha_{s} \left( k_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),s^{-1}t) \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \alpha_{s} \left( (\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h)_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}),s^{-1}) \right)^{*} \alpha_{s} \left( k_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),s^{-1}t) \right) ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_{s} \left( f(z)h_{1} (z^{-1}\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}),s^{-1}) \right)^{*} \alpha_{s} \left( k_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),s^{-1}t) \right) \\ &\quad d\lambda^{r(\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}))}(z) \, ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_{s} \left( h_{1} (z^{-1}\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}),s^{-1})^{*} f(z)^{*} k_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),s^{-1}t) \right) \\ &\quad d\lambda^{r(\beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}))}(z) \, ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \end{split}$$

which, after  $z \mapsto \beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1})z$  for fixed y, is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \Big( h_1(z^{-1}, s^{-1})^* f(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1})z)^* k_1(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t) \Big) \\ d\lambda^{s(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}))}(z) \, ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)$$

which, by invariance of the action  $\beta$  (in the variable z), is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \Big( h_1(\beta_s^{-1}(z^{-1}), s^{-1})^* f(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}z))^* k_1(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t) \Big) \\\lambda^{s(y^{-1})}(z) \, ds \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)$$

which, by Fubini, is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \Big( h_1(\beta_s^{-1}(z^{-1}), s^{-1})^* f(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}z))^* k_1(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t) \Big) \\ d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \, ds \, \lambda^{r(x)}(z)$$

which, after  $y \mapsto zy$  for fixed z, is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \Big( h_1(\beta_s^{-1}(z^{-1}), s^{-1})^* f(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}))^* k_1(\beta_s^{-1}(y^{-1}z^{-1}x), s^{-1}t) \Big) \\ d\lambda^{s(z)}(y) \, ds \, \lambda^{r(x)}(z)$$

which, by invariance of  $\beta$  (in y), is

To check the continuity condition (ii) of Proposition 1.7, it suffices to show that if  $L \subseteq \mathcal{G}$  is compact and  $f_i \to 0$  uniformly in  $\Gamma_L(\mathcal{G}, \mathcal{B})$ , then for each  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathcal{B} \times_\alpha G)$  there exists a compact set  $K \subseteq \mathcal{G} \times_\beta G$  such that  $\langle \sigma_{\mathscr{R}}(f_i)h, k \rangle \to 0$  uniformly in  $\Gamma_K(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G, \mathcal{B} \times_\alpha G)$ . Using continuity of the action of G on  $\mathcal{G}$ , it is routine to verify that for any such h and kthere exists a compact set K such that  $\operatorname{supp} \langle \sigma_{\mathscr{R}}(f_i)h, k \rangle \subseteq K$  for every i. Then, to verify uniform convergence, we notice that for each i,

$$\|\langle \sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f_i)h, k \rangle\|_{\infty} \le M \|f_i\|_{\infty} \|h\|_{\infty} \|k\|_{\infty},$$

where  $M = \sup_{u \in \mathcal{G}^{(0)}} \lambda^{(e,u)}(K)$ .

For the nondegeneracy condition (iii) of Proposition 1.7, note that if  $f, g \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $h \in C_c(G)$ , then

$$\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)(g \boxtimes h) = (f * g) \boxtimes h,$$

where  $g \boxtimes h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  is defined by  $(g \boxtimes h)(x,t) = (g(x)h(t),t)$ . Letting f run through an approximate identity  $\{f_i\}$  for  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  in the inductive limit topology (see [16, Proposition 6.10]), we have  $f_i * g \to g$ , hence  $(f_i * g) \boxtimes h \to g \boxtimes h$ , both nets converging in the inductive limit topology. Since such sections  $g \boxtimes h$  have dense span in  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$ , hence in  $C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G, \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$ , nondegeneracy follows.

Now we conclude from Proposition 1.7 that  $\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}$  extends to a nondegenerate \*-homomorphism of  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$  into  $M(C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G))$ , as required.

We now turn to  $\sigma_G$ . Fix  $s \in G$ , and for each  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$ , define  $\sigma_G(s)h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  by

$$\left(\sigma_G(s)h\right)(x,t) = \left(\alpha_s\left(h_1\left(\beta_s^{-1}(x), s^{-1}t\right)\right)\Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}}, t\right).$$

Then for  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  we have

$$\begin{split} \left\langle \sigma_{G}(s)h , \sigma_{G}(s)k \right\rangle_{1}(x,t) &= \left( (\sigma_{G}(s)h)^{*} * (\sigma_{G}(s)k) \right)_{1}(x,t) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} (\sigma_{G}(s)h)_{1}^{*}(y,r) \alpha_{r} \left( (\sigma_{G}(s)k)_{1} (\beta_{r}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),r^{-1}t) \right) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \alpha_{r} \left( (\sigma_{G}(s)h)_{1} (\beta_{r}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),r^{-1}t) \right) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \alpha_{r} \left( \alpha_{s}(h_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1} (\beta_{r}^{-1}(y^{-1}x)),s^{-1}r^{-1})^{*} \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \\ & \alpha_{r} \left( \alpha_{s}(k_{1} (\beta_{s}^{-1} (\beta_{r}^{-1}(y^{-1}x)),s^{-1}r^{-1}t) \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \alpha_{rs} \left( h_{1} (\beta_{rs}^{-1}(y^{-1}),(rs)^{-1})^{*} \right) \\ & \alpha_{rs} \left( k_{1} (\beta_{rs}^{-1}(y^{-1}x),(rs)^{-1}t) \right) \Delta(s) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \end{split}$$

which, after  $r \mapsto rs^{-1}$ , is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} \alpha_r \left( h_1(\beta_r^{-1}(y^{-1}), r^{-1})^* \right) \alpha_r \left( k_1(\beta_r^{-1}(y^{-1}x), r^{-1}t) \right) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \int_{G} h_1^*(y, r) \alpha_r \left( k_1(\beta_r^{-1}(y^{-1}x), r^{-1}t) \right) dr \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)$$
  
$$= (h^* * k)_1(x, t) = \langle h, k \rangle_1(x, t).$$

Since we clearly have  $\sigma_G(s)\sigma_G(t) = \sigma_G(st)$  and  $\sigma_G(e)$  is the identity, it follows that  $\sigma_G(s)$  defines a unitary in  $M(C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G))$ .

To see the resulting homomorphism  $\sigma_G : G \to M(C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G, \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G))$ is strictly continuous, it suffices (by [21, Corollary C.8]) to show that if  $s_i \to e$  in G and  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  then  $\sigma_G(s_i)h \to h$  in the inductive limit topology. Without loss of generality all the  $s_i$ 's are contained in some compact neighborhood V of e. Choose compact sets  $K \subseteq \mathcal{G}$  and  $L \subseteq G$  such that supp  $h \subseteq K \times L$ . Then for each *i* we have

$$\operatorname{supp} \sigma_G(s_i)h \subseteq \beta_{V^{-1}}(K) \times V^{-1}L,$$

which is compact by continuity of the action  $\beta$ . The uniform continuity of h and continuity of the actions  $\alpha$  and  $\beta$  guarantee that

$$\lim_{i} \alpha_{s_i} \left( h_1(\beta_{s_i^{-1}}(x), s_i^{-1}t) \right) = h_1(x, t)$$

uniformly in (x,t), so  $\sigma_G(s_i)h \to h$  uniformly. Thus  $\sigma_G(s_i)h \to h$  in the inductive limit topology.

Now we verify that the pair  $(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}, \sigma_G)$  is covariant for  $(C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}), G, \overline{\alpha})$ . If  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $s \in G$ , then for each  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  and  $(y, t) \in \mathcal{G} \times_\beta G$ , we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left(\sigma_G(s)\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h\right)_1(y,t) \\ &= \alpha_s \left( \left(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)h\right)_1(\beta_s^{-1}(y),s^{-1}t) \right) \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \left( f(x)h_1(x^{-1}\beta_s^{-1}(y),s^{-1}t) \right) \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^{r(\beta_s^{-1}(y))}(x) \end{aligned}$$

which, by invariance of  $\beta$ , is

$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \alpha_s \left( f(\beta_s^{-1}(x)) h_1(\beta_s^{-1}(x^{-1}y), s^{-1}t) \right) \Delta(s)^{\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^{r(y)}(x)$$
  
$$= \int_{\mathcal{G}} \overline{\alpha}_s(f)(x) \left( \sigma_G(s)h \right)_1(x^{-1}y, t) d\lambda^{r(y)}(x)$$
  
$$= \left( \sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(\overline{\alpha}_s(f)) \sigma_G(s)h \right)_1(y, t).$$

Next we verify (7.2): for  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  and  $(y, s) \in \mathcal{G} \times_\beta G$ , we have

$$\begin{split} &\left(\sigma_{\mathscr{B}}(f)\sigma_{G}(g)h\right)(y,s)\\ &= \left(\int_{\mathcal{G}}f(x)\big(\sigma_{G}(g)h\big)_{1}(x^{-1}y,s)\,d\lambda^{r(y)}(x),s\right)\\ &= \left(\int_{\mathcal{G}}\int_{G}f(x)g(t)\alpha_{t}\Big(h_{1}\big(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}y),t^{-1}s\big)\Big)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}\,dt\,d\lambda^{r(y)}(x),s\Big)\\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}}\int_{G}\Big(f(x)g(t)\alpha_{t}\big(h_{1}(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}y),t^{-1}s)\big),s\big)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}\,dt\,d\lambda^{r(y)}(x)\\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}}\int_{G}\Big(f(x)g(t)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}},t\big)\big(h_{1}(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}y),t^{-1}s),t^{-1}s\big)\,dt\,d\lambda^{r(y)}(x)\\ &= \int_{\mathcal{G}}\int_{G}\Big(f\boxtimes(\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g)\big)(x,t)h(\beta_{t}^{-1}(x^{-1}y),t^{-1}s)\,dt\,d\lambda^{r(y)}(x)\\ &= \big((f\boxtimes(\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g)\big)*h\big)(y,s). \end{split}$$

As outlined at the start of the proof, it follows from the above that the integrated form  $\sigma = \sigma_{\mathscr{B}} \rtimes \sigma_G$  maps  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \rtimes_{\overline{\alpha}} G$  onto  $C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$ .

To show injectivity of  $\sigma$ , it suffices to find a left inverse. We will begin by constructing a \*-homomorphism  $\tau : \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G) \to C_c(G, \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}))$ which is continuous for the inductive limit topologies on each algebra, where (of course)  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  is also given the inductive limit topology. Then, the composition

$$\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G) \xrightarrow{\tau} C_c(G, \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})) \to C_c(G, C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})) \to C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \times_{\overline{\alpha}} G$$

will be continuous from the inductive limit topology to the  $C^*$ -norm topology, and hence, by Proposition 1.8, will extend to a homomorphism, which we will also denote by  $\tau$ , of  $C^*(\mathcal{G} \times_{\beta} G, \mathscr{B} \times_{\alpha} G)$  into  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}) \rtimes_{\overline{\alpha}} G$ . Finally, we will check that  $\tau \circ \sigma = \text{id}$  on generators, and this will suffice.

For  $h \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  and  $t \in G$ , it is clear that the rule

$$x \mapsto h_1(x,t)\Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$

defines an element  $\tau(h)(t)$  of  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$ . The discussion in [11, II.15.19] shows that the map  $t \mapsto h_1(\cdot, t)$  from G into  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  is inductive-limit continuous, and it follows that  $t \mapsto \tau(h)(t)$  defines an inductive-limit continuous map  $\tau(h)$  from G to  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$ . Since  $\tau(h)$  obviously has compact support, we therefore have  $\tau(h) \in C_c(G, \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}))$ , with

$$\tau(h)(t)(x) = h_1(x,t)\Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}}$$
 for  $t \in G$  and  $x \in \mathcal{G}$ .

Now the rule  $h \mapsto \tau(h)$  gives a map  $\tau$  with domain  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$ which is clearly linear. To show that  $\tau$  is continuous for the inductive limit topologies, it suffices to show that if  $K \subseteq \mathcal{G}$  and  $L \subseteq G$  are compact and  $\{h_i\}$  is a net in  $\Gamma_{K \times L}(\mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$  converging uniformly to 0, then  $\tau(h_i) \to 0$ in the inductive limit topology of  $C_c(G, \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}))$ . Since  $\operatorname{supp} \tau(h_i) \subseteq L$  for all *i*, it suffices to show that  $\tau(h_i) \to 0$  uniformly. But this is obvious, since  $h_i \to 0$  uniformly.

Next we show that  $\tau$  is a \*-homomorphism. For  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G} \times_\beta G; \mathscr{B} \times_\alpha G)$ we can use the argument<sup>9</sup> of [24, Lemma 1.108] to conclude that  $\tau(h) * \tau(k)$ , which is *a priori* an element of  $C_c(G, C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B}))$ , lies in  $C_c(G, \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B}))$  and that we can pass "evaluation at x" through the integral in the third line of the following computation:

$$\begin{split} & \left(\tau(h) * \tau(k)\right)(t)(x) \\ &= \left(\int_{G} \tau(h)(s) * \overline{\alpha}_{s}\left(\tau(k)(s^{-1}t)\right) ds\right)(x) \\ &= \int_{G} \left(\tau(h)(s) * \overline{\alpha}_{s}\left(\tau(k)(s^{-1}t)\right)\right)(x) ds \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \tau(h)(s)(y) \overline{\alpha}_{s}\left(\tau(k)(s^{-1}t)\right)(y^{-1}x) d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) ds \end{split}$$

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup>Lemma 1.108 of [24] as stated does not apply to a section algebra  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  sitting inside a bundle  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(\mathcal{G}, \mathscr{B})$ , but it is easy to see that the argument gives the conclusion we need here.

$$\begin{split} &= \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} h_{1}(y,s) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \alpha_{s} \big( \tau(k) (s^{-1}t) \big( \beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x) \big) \big) \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \, ds \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} h_{1}(y,s) \Delta(s)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \alpha_{s} \big( k_{1} \big( \beta_{s}^{-1}(y^{-1}x), s^{-1}t \big) \big) \Delta(s^{-1}t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y) \, ds \\ &= (h * k)_{1}(x,t) \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \tau(h * k)(t)(x), \end{split}$$

so  $\tau$  is multiplicative. For the involution, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \tau(h)^*(t)(x) &= \overline{\alpha}_t \big( \tau(h)(t^{-1})^* \Delta(t^{-1}) \big)(x) \\ &= \overline{\alpha}_t \big( \tau(h)(t^{-1})^* \big)(x) \Delta(t^{-1}) \\ &= \alpha_t \big( \tau(h)(t^{-1})^* \big( \beta_{t^{-1}}(x) \big) \big) \Delta(t^{-1}) \\ &= \alpha_t \big( \tau(h)(t^{-1}) \big( \beta_{t^{-1}}(x^{-1}) \big)^* \big) \Delta(t^{-1}) \\ &= \alpha_t \big( h_1 \big( \beta_{t^{-1}}(x^{-1}), t^{-1} \big) \Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \big)^* \Delta(t^{-1}) \\ &= \alpha_t \big( h_1 \big( \beta_{t^{-1}}(x^{-1}), t^{-1} \big) \big)^* \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= (h^*)_1(x, t) \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \\ &= \tau(h^*)(t)(x). \end{aligned}$$

Finally, we check  $\tau \circ \sigma = \text{id}$  on generators of the form  $i_{\mathscr{B}}(f)i_G(g)$  for  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{G}; \mathscr{B})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ :

$$\tau \circ \sigma \left( i_{\mathscr{B}}(f) i_G(g) \right)(t)(x) = \tau \left( f \boxtimes (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g) \right)(t)(x)$$
$$= \left( (f \boxtimes (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g))_1(x,t) \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \right)$$
$$= f(x)g(t)$$
$$= \left( i_B(f) i_G(g) \right)(t)(x).$$

# 8. The canonical surjection is injective

Since Fell bundle  $C^*$ -algebras are generalizations of crossed products by actions, our main result generalizes the fact ([3, Proposition 3.4]) that the dual coaction on a crossed product is always maximal:

**Theorem 8.1.** Let  $\mathscr{A}$  be a separable Fell bundle over a group G, and let  $\delta$  be the associated coaction of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  as in Proposition 3.1. Then the canonical surjection

$$\Phi: C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G \to C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$$

is an isomorphism; hence  $\delta$  is maximal.

To do prove Theorem 8.1, we will factor  $\Phi$  into three isomorphisms, each involving the  $C^*$ -algebra of a Fell bundle over a groupoid. These isomorphisms will be presented in Propositions 8.2–8.4. We will use the

following notation for canonical maps related to the double-crossed product  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G$ :

$$\begin{aligned} k_{\mathscr{A}} &= i_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G} \circ j_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A})} : C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \to M(C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G) \\ k_{C(G)} &= i_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G} \circ j_G : C_0(G) \to M(C^*(G,\mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G) \\ k_G &= i_G : G \to M(C^*(A,\mathcal{G}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G). \end{aligned}$$

Note that the double-crossed product is densely spanned by products of the form

 $k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_{G}(h)$  for  $f \in \Gamma_{c}(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g, h \in C_{c}(G)$ .

Our first isomorphism involves an iterated product Fell bundle. As in Section 4, let  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  be the transformation Fell bundle over the transformation groupoid  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ . The group G acts on both  $G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$  and  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ by right translation in the second coördinate:

$$(\mathrm{id}_G \times \mathrm{rt})_r(s,t) = (s,tr^{-1})$$
 and  $(\mathrm{id}_\mathscr{A} \times \mathrm{rt})_r(a_s,t) = (a_s,tr^{-1}).$ 

Thus we get a semidirect-product Fell bundle

$$\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G;$$

for simplicity, we will denote the corresponding semidirect-product groupoid  $(G \times_{\operatorname{lt}} G) \times_{\operatorname{id}_G \times \operatorname{rt}} G$  by  $\mathcal{S}$ .

The action of G on  $G \times_{\text{lt}} G$  is invariant in the sense of Definition 6.3, since for each  $(e, u) \in (G \times_{\text{lt}} G)^0 = \{e\} \times G, f \in C_c(G \times_{\text{lt}} G)$ , and  $r \in G$  we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G} f\big((\mathrm{id}_G\times\mathrm{rt})_r(s,t)\big) \,d\lambda^{(e,u)}(s,t) &= \int_G f((\mathrm{id}_G\times\mathrm{rt})_r(s,s^{-1}u) \,ds \\ &= \int_G f(s,s^{-1}ur^{-1}) \,ds \\ &= \int_{G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G} f(s,t) \,d\lambda^{(e,ur^{-1})}(s,t) \\ &= \int_{G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G} f(s,t) \,d\lambda^{(\mathrm{id}_G\times\mathrm{rt})_r(e,u)}. \end{split}$$

Therefore Proposition 6.4 gives a Haar system on S, so we can form the Fell-bundle  $C^*$ -algebra  $C^*(S, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G)$ .

**Proposition 8.2.** There is an isomorphism

$$\Theta: C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G \to C^*(\mathcal{S}, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G)$$

such that, for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g, h \in C_c(G)$ , the image

$$\Theta(k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_G(h))$$

is in  $\Gamma_c(\mathcal{S}; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G)$ , with

(8.1)  $\Theta(k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_{G}(h))(r,s,t) = (f(r)g(s)h(t)\Delta(rt)^{\frac{1}{2}},s,t).$ 

**Proof.** Theorem 5.1 gives an isomorphism

$$\theta: C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \to C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$$

such that

$$\theta(j_{C^*(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_G(g)) = (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f) \boxtimes g$$

for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $g \in C_c(G)$ . We want to parlay this into our isomorphism  $\Theta$ . First, we verify that  $\theta$  is equivariant for the dual action of G on  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G$  and the action  $(\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^-$  coming from the action of G on  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G$ . Note that for  $h \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ ,

$$(\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^{\bar{s}}(h)(t,r) = (h_1(t,rs),r).$$

Thus for  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}), g \in C_c(G)$  and  $s \in G$  we have

$$\begin{aligned} (\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^{\bar{}_{s}} \circ \theta \big( j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f) j_{G}(g) \big)(t,r) &= (\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^{\bar{}_{s}} \big( (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} f) \boxtimes g \big)(t,r) \\ &= \big( \Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} f(t) g(rs), t \big) \\ &= \big( \Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} f(t) \mathrm{rt}_{s}(g)(r), t \big) \\ &= \big( (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}} f) \boxtimes \mathrm{rt}_{s}(g) \big)(t,r), \end{aligned}$$

so that

$$(\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^{\bar{}_{s}} \circ \theta (j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g)) = \theta (j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(\mathrm{rt}_{s}(g)))$$
$$= \theta (\hat{\delta}_{s} (j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g)))$$
$$= \theta \circ \hat{\delta}_{s} (j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g)).$$

Therefore we have an isomorphism

 $\theta \rtimes G : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \rtimes_{\delta} G \rtimes_{\hat{\delta}} G \to C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \times_{(\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^-} G.$ 

Now, Theorem 7.1 gives an isomorphism

$$\sigma: C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \rtimes_{(\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt})^-} G \to C^*(\mathcal{S}, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G)$$

taking a generator  $i_{C^*(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)}(k)i_G(h)$  for  $k \in \Gamma_c(G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G)$ and  $h \in C_c(G)$  to the section of  $\mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G$  given by

$$\sigma\big(i_{C^*(G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G,\mathscr{A}\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G)}(k)\mathrm{id}_G(h)\big)(r,s,t)=\big(k(r,s)h(t)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}},s,t\big).$$

We now define  $\Theta$  to be  $\sigma \circ (\theta \rtimes G)$ , and it only remains to verify (8.1). We have

$$\Theta(k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_{G}(h))$$

$$= \sigma \circ (\theta \times G)(i_{C^{*}(A,\mathcal{G})\times_{\delta}G}(j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g))i_{G}(h))$$

$$= \sigma((\theta \times G)(i_{C^{*}(A,\mathcal{G})\times_{\delta}G}(j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g))i_{G}(h)))$$

$$= \sigma(i_{C^{*}(G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G,\mathscr{A}\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G)} \circ \theta(j_{C^{*}(G,\mathscr{A})}(f)j_{G}(g))i_{G}(h))$$

$$= \sigma(i_{C^{*}(G\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G,\mathscr{A}\times_{\mathrm{lt}}G)}((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g)i_{G}(h)),$$

 $\mathbf{SO}$ 

$$\Theta(k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_{G}(h))(r,s,t) = \left(\left((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}f)\boxtimes g\right)(r,s)h(t)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}},t\right)$$
$$= \left(f(r)g(s)h(t)\Delta(rt)^{\frac{1}{2}},s,t\right).$$

For our second isomorphism, we let  $\mathcal{E}$  denote the equivalence relation groupoid  $G \times G$  on the set G, and we endow  $\mathcal{E}$  with the Haar system  $\lambda^{(s,s)} = \delta_s \times \lambda$ , where  $\delta_s$  is the point mass at s, and  $\lambda$  is Haar measure on G. We then form the Cartesian product Fell bundle  $\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}$  over the Cartesian product groupoid  $G \times \mathcal{E}$ , in analogy with the group case in Section 2.

#### **Proposition 8.3.** There is an isomorphism

 $\Psi: C^*(\mathcal{S}, \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}} \mathcal{A} \times_{\mathrm{rt}} G) \to C^*(G \times \mathcal{E}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E})$ 

such that, for  $f \in \Gamma_c(\mathcal{S}; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G)$ , the image

 $\Psi(f) \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{E}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}),$ 

with

(8.2) 
$$\Psi(f)(r,s,t) = (f_1(r,r^{-1}s,s^{-1}rt),s,t).$$

**Proof.** First notice that the groupoids  $\mathcal{S} = (G \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G) \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G$  and  $G \times \mathcal{E}$  are isomorphic via the homeomorphism  $\psi : \mathcal{S} \to G \times \mathcal{E}$  given by  $\psi(r, s, t) = (r, rs, st)$ . Furthermore, the homeomorphism  $\Psi_0 : \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G \to \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}$  given by  $\Psi_0(a_r, s, t) = (a_r, rs, st)$  is a bundle map which covers  $\psi$  and is an isometric isomorphism on each fibre. Routine computations show that  $\Psi_0$  also preserves the multiplication and involution. Hence we can define a \*-isomorphism  $\Psi : \Gamma_c(\mathcal{S}; \mathscr{A} \times_{\mathrm{lt}} G \times_{\mathrm{id}_{\mathscr{A}} \times \mathrm{rt}} G) \to \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{E}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E})$  by

$$\Psi(f)(r,s,t) = \Psi_0(f(\psi^{-1}(r,s,t))) = (f_1(r,r^{-1}s,s^{-1}rt),s,t).$$

Because  $\Psi_0$  is a homeomorphism,  $\Psi$  is homeomorphic for the inductive limit topologies; therefore  $\Psi$  extends to an isomorphism of the bundle  $C^*$ -algebras which satisfies (8.2).

Proposition 8.4. There is an isomorphism

 $\Upsilon: C^*(G \times \mathcal{E}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}) \to C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ 

such that, for every faithful nondegenerate representation  $\pi : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to B(\mathcal{H}), f \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{E}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}), and \xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H}), we have$ 

(8.3) 
$$((\pi \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Upsilon(f)\xi)(s) = \int_G \int_G \pi_0 (f_1(r,s,t))\xi(t)\Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr dt,$$

where  $\pi_0 = \pi \circ \iota$  as in Lemma 1.3.

The proposition depends on the following lemma, which may be of general interest. As above,  $\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}$  denotes the Cartesian product bundle over the Cartesian product groupoid  $G \times \mathcal{G}$ .

**Lemma 8.5.** Let  $\mathcal{G}$  be a second countable locally compact groupoid such that  $C^*(\mathcal{G})$  is nuclear. There exists an an isomorphism  $\omega : C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}) \to C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(\mathcal{G})$  such that

$$\omega(g \boxtimes h) = (\Delta^{-\frac{1}{2}}g) \otimes h \quad \text{for } g \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}) \text{ and } h \in C_c(\mathcal{G}),$$

where  $g \boxtimes h \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  is defined by  $(g \boxtimes h)(s, x) = (g(s)h(x), x)$ .

**Proof.** For  $a_t \in A_t$ , define a linear operator  $\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t)$  on  $\Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  by<sup>10</sup>

$$\left(\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t)h\right)_1(s,x) = a_t h_1(t^{-1}s,x)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}$$

Then a computation shows that

$$\langle \rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t)h, k \rangle = \langle h, \rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t^*)k \rangle \text{ for } h, k \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}),$$

where we are viewing  $C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  as a right Hilbert module over itself with dense subspace  $\Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ . Just as in the proof of Lemma 1.2, it follows that  $\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t)$  is bounded as an operator on  $C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  with adjoint  $\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t^*)$ , and that the rule  $a_t \mapsto \rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}(a_t)$  therefore extends to a  $\ast$ homomorphism  $\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}$  of  $\mathscr{A}$  into  $M(C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}))$ . The proof that  $\rho_0^{\mathscr{A}}$ is nondegenerate and strictly continuous also closely parallels the proof in Lemma 1.2 and will be omitted. Using Lemma 1.3, we get a nondegenerate homomorphism  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}}: C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to M(C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}))$ .

Similarly, for  $g \in C_c(\mathcal{G})$  we define an operator  $\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(g)$  on  $\Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ by

$$(\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(g)h)_1(s,x) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} g(y)h_1(s,y^{-1}x) \, d\lambda^{r(x)}(y).$$

Another computation shows that

$$\langle \rho_{\mathcal{G}}(g)h, k \rangle = \langle h, \rho_{\mathcal{G}}(g^*)k \rangle$$
 for  $h, k \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}).$ 

Thus condition (i) of Proposition 1.7 is satisfied, and condition (ii) is not hard to check. Condition (iii) follows from the existence of an approximate identity for  $C_c(\mathcal{G})$  in the inductive limit topology (cf. [15, Corollary 2.11]). Hence,  $\rho_{\mathcal{G}}$  extends to a nondegenerate homomorphism of  $C^*(\mathcal{G})$ into  $M(C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}))$  by Proposition 1.7.

Clearly,  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}}$  and  $\rho_{\mathcal{G}}$  commute. Since  $C^*(\mathcal{G})$  is nuclear, we obtain a homomorphism  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathcal{G}}$  of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(\mathcal{G})$  into  $M(C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}))$ . If  $g \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}), h \in C_c(\mathcal{G})$  and  $k \in \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ , then an argument patterned after the proof of [24, Lemma 1.108] implies that  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}}(g)\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(h)k$  is in  $\Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  and that evaluation at  $(s, x) \in G \times \mathcal{G}$  "passes through the integral" in the second step in the next calculation:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup>Although this construction almost exactly parallels that in Lemma 1.2, we need to insert a modular function here (compare with (1.5)) because, just as with (5.3) in the proof of Theorem 5.1, there is no modular function in the definition of the involution in the \*-algebra associated to a Fell bundle over a groupoid.

$$\begin{split} \rho_{\mathscr{A}}(g)\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(h)k\big)_{1}(s,x) \\ &= \left(\int_{G} \left(\rho_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(g(t))(\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(h)k)\right)_{1}dt\right)(s,x) \\ &= \int_{G} \rho_{0}^{\mathscr{A}}(g(t))\left(\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(h)k\right)_{1}(s,x)\,dt \\ &= \int_{G} g(t)\left(\rho_{\mathcal{G}}(h)k\right)_{1}(t^{-1}s,x)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}\,dt \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} g(t)h(y)k_{1}(t^{-1}s,y^{-1}x)d\lambda^{r(x)}(y)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}\,dt \\ &= \int_{G\times\mathcal{G}} \left((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g)\boxtimes h\right)_{1}(t,y)k_{1}((t,y)^{-1}(s,x))\,d\lambda^{r(s,x)}(t,y) \\ &= \left(\left((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g)\boxtimes h\right)*k\right)_{1}(s,x). \end{split}$$

Therefore

(

(8.4) 
$$\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathscr{G}}(g \otimes h) = (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g) \boxtimes h$$
 for  $g \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $h \in C_c(\mathcal{G})$ .

Since such elements  $(\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g) \boxtimes h$  span a dense subspace of  $\Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ ,  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathcal{G}}$  maps  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(\mathcal{G})$  (into and) onto  $C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ .

Now fix a faithful nondegenerate representation  $\pi$  of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A})$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ , and let  $\pi_0 : \mathscr{A} \to B(\mathcal{H})$  be the nondegenerate representation whose integrated form is  $\pi$  (as in Lemma 1.3). Further let  $\tau$  be a faithful nondegenerate representation of  $C^*(\mathcal{G})$  on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{K}$ . By the Disintegration Theorem ([23, Proposition 4.2] or [17, Theorem 7.8]), we can assume  $\mathcal{K} = L^2(\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * \mathscr{V}, \mu)$ , where  $\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * \mathscr{V}$  is a Borel Hilbert bundle and  $\mu$  is a finite quasi-invariant Radon measure on  $\mathcal{G}^{(0)}$ , such that  $\tau$  is the integrated form of a groupoid representation  $\tau_0$  of  $\mathcal{G}$ ; thus

(8.5) 
$$(\tau(h)\kappa)(u) = \int_{\mathcal{G}} h(x)\tau_0(x)\kappa(s(x))\Delta_{\mathcal{G}}(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^u(x) \quad \text{for } h \in C_c(\mathcal{G}),$$

where  $\Delta_{\mathcal{G}}$  is the Radon–Nikodym derivative of  $\nu^{-1}$  with respect to  $\nu = \mu \circ \lambda$ . Note that we can identify  $(G \times \mathcal{G})^{(0)}$  with  $\mathcal{G}^{(0)}$ . Then we can form a Borel Hilbert bundle  $\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * (\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{V})$  such that  $(\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{V})(u) = \mathcal{H} \otimes V(u)$  and such that  $L^2(\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * (\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{V}), \mu)$  can be identified with  $H \otimes L^2(\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * \mathcal{V}, \mu)$ . Then we can define a Borel \*-functor (see [16, Definition 4.5])  $\Pi$  from  $\mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}$  to End $(\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * (\mathcal{H} \otimes \mathcal{V}))$  by

$$\Pi(a,x) = \pi_0(a) \otimes \tau_0(x).$$

If  $\mu_G$  is a left Haar measure on G, then we get a Haar system  $\{\underline{\lambda}^u\}_{u\in\mathcal{G}^{(0)}}$ on  $G \times \mathcal{G}$  via  $\underline{\lambda}^u = \mu_G \times \lambda^u$ . Notice that the Radon–Nikodym derivative of  $\underline{\nu}^{-1}$  with respect to  $\underline{\nu} := \underline{\lambda} \circ \mu$  is given by  $(s, x) \mapsto \Delta(s)\Delta_{\mathcal{G}}(x)$ . Then [16, Proposition 4.10] implies that  $\Pi$  integrates up to a \*-homomorphism  $L: \Gamma_c(G \times \mathcal{G}; \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G}) \to B(\mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(\mathcal{G}^{(0)} * \mathscr{V}, \mu))$  given by

(8.6) 
$$L(f)(\eta \otimes \kappa)(u) = \int_G \int_{\mathcal{G}} \pi_0 \big( f_1(t, x) \big) \eta \otimes \tau_0(x) \kappa(s(x)) \Delta_{\mathcal{G}}(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^u(x) dt$$

which extends to a representation of  $C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$ .

Now, using (8.4), for  $g \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A})$  and  $h \in C_c(\mathcal{G})$  we have

$$\begin{split} L(\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathscr{G}}(g \otimes h))(\eta \otimes \kappa)(u) \\ &= L((\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}g) \boxtimes h)(\eta \otimes \kappa)(u) \\ &= \int_{G} \int_{\mathcal{G}} \pi_{0} (\Delta^{\frac{1}{2}}(t)g(t)h(x))\eta \otimes \tau_{0}(x)\kappa(s(x))\Delta_{\mathscr{G}}(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^{u}(x) \Delta(t)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dt \\ &= \left(\int_{G} \pi_{0}(g(t))\eta dt\right) \otimes \left(\int_{\mathscr{G}} h(x)\tau_{0}(x)\kappa(s(x))\Delta_{\mathscr{G}}(x)^{-\frac{1}{2}} d\lambda^{u}(x)\right) \\ &= \pi(g)\eta \otimes (\tau(h)\kappa)(u) \\ &= (\pi \otimes \tau)(g \otimes h)(\eta \otimes \kappa)(u). \end{split}$$

It follows that  $L \circ (\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathcal{G}}) = \pi \otimes \tau$ , and since the latter is a faithful representation of  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(\mathcal{G})$ , it follows that  $\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathcal{G}}$  is faithful.

To complete the proof, we just let  $\omega = (\rho_{\mathscr{A}} \otimes \rho_{\mathscr{G}})^{-1}$ . Then  $\omega$  is an isomorphism of  $C^*(G \times \mathcal{G}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{G})$  onto  $C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes C^*(\mathcal{G})$  and satisfies

$$\omega(g \boxtimes h) = (\Delta^{-\frac{1}{2}}g) \otimes h.$$

**Proof of Proposition** 8.4. Note that  $C^*(\mathcal{E}) = C^*(\mathcal{E}, \lambda) \cong \mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ . In fact, since  $\mathcal{E}$  is groupoid-equivalent to the trivial group,  $C^*(\mathcal{E})$  is simple, so the representation  $\tau : C^*(\mathcal{E}) \to B(L^2(G))$  defined by

$$(\tau(h)\kappa)(s) = \int_G h(s,t)\kappa(t) dt$$
 for  $h \in C_c(\mathcal{E})$  and  $\kappa \in C_c(G) \subseteq L^2(G)$ 

is an isomorphism onto  $\mathcal{K}(L^2(G))$ . In particular,  $C^*(\mathcal{E})$  is nuclear, so by Lemma 8.5, we have an isomorphism

$$\Upsilon := (\mathrm{id} \otimes \tau) \circ \omega : C^*(G \times \mathcal{E}, \mathscr{A} \times \mathcal{E}) \to C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \otimes \mathcal{K}(L^2(G)).$$

If we let  $\mathcal{E}^{(0)} * \mathbb{C}$  be the trivial bundle  $G \times \mathbb{C}$ , then we can identify  $L^2(G)$  with  $L^2(\mathcal{E}^{(0)} * \mathbb{C}, \lambda)$  in the obvious way. Notice also that  $\lambda$  is a quasi-invariant measure on  $\mathcal{E}^{(0)}$  with  $\Delta_{\mathcal{E}} \equiv 1$ . Thus the representation  $\tau$  is essentially presented as in (8.5). (The representation  $\tau_0$  acts on  $(s, z) \in G \times \mathbb{C}$  by  $\tau_0(t, s)(s, z) = (t, z)$ .) Thus, in the current situation, (8.6) reduces to

$$(L(f)\xi)(s) = \int_G \int_G \pi_0(f_1(r,s,t))\xi(t)\Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr dt$$

for  $\xi \in C_c(G, \mathcal{H}) \subseteq \mathcal{H} \otimes L^2(G)$ . Now (8.3) is easily verified using the observation (from the proof of Lemma 8.5) that  $(\pi \otimes \tau) \circ \omega = L$ .

**Proof of Theorem 8.1.** We need to show that  $\Phi$  is injective, and to do this we will show that the diagram

commutes, where  $\Theta$ ,  $\Psi$ , and  $\Upsilon$  are the isomorphisms of Propositions 8.2, 8.3, and 8.4, respectively.

Let  $\pi : C^*(G, \mathscr{A}) \to B(\mathcal{H})$  be a faithful nondegenerate representation on a Hilbert space  $\mathcal{H}$ . Let  $f \in \Gamma_c(G; \mathscr{A}), g, h, \kappa \in C_c(G)$ , and  $\eta \in \mathcal{H}$ . Then, to show that the diagram commutes, the following computation suffices. Applying Proposition 8.4, we have

$$\begin{aligned} & \left( (\pi \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Upsilon \circ \Psi \circ \Theta \big( k_{\mathscr{A}}(f) k_{C(G)}(g) k_G(h) \big)(\eta \otimes \kappa) \big)(s) \\ &= \int_G \int_G \pi_0 \big( \Psi \circ \Theta \big( k_{\mathscr{A}}(f) k_{C(G)}(g) k_G(h) \big)_1(r,s,t) \big)(\eta \otimes \kappa)(t) \Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} \, dr \, dt \end{aligned}$$

which, by Proposition 8.3, is

$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \pi_0 \Big( \Theta \Big( k_{\mathscr{A}}(f) k_{C(G)}(g) k_G(h) \Big)_1(r, r^{-1}s, s^{-1}rt) \Big) \eta \kappa(t) \Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr dt$$

which, by Proposition 8.2, is

$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \pi_0 \left( f(r) \Delta(r)^{\frac{1}{2}} g(r^{-1}s) h(s^{-1}rt) \Delta(s^{-1}rt)^{\frac{1}{2}} \right) \eta \kappa(t) \Delta(r)^{-\frac{1}{2}} dr dt$$

which, after using Fubini and sending  $t \mapsto r^{-1}st$ , is

$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \pi(f(r)) g(r^{-1}s) h(t) \Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}} \eta \kappa(r^{-1}st) \, dt \, dr$$

which, since  $\rho_t \kappa(r^{-1}s) = \kappa(r^{-1}st)\Delta(t)^{\frac{1}{2}}$ , is

$$= \int_{G} \int_{G} \pi_{0}(f(r))\eta g(r^{-1}s)(\rho_{t}\kappa)(r^{-1}s)h(t) dt dr$$
  

$$= \int_{G} \pi_{0}(f(r))\eta g(r^{-1}s)(\rho(h)\kappa)(r^{-1}s) dr$$
  

$$= \int_{G} \pi_{0}(f(r))\eta (M_{g}\rho(h)\kappa)(r^{-1}s) dr$$
  

$$= \int_{G} \pi_{0}(f(r))\eta (\lambda_{r}M_{g}\rho(h)\kappa)(s) dr$$
  

$$= \int_{G} (\pi_{0}(f(r))\eta \otimes \lambda_{r}M_{g}\rho(h)\kappa)(s) dr$$

$$= \int_{G} (\pi_{0}(f(r)) \otimes \lambda_{r} M_{g}\rho(h))(\eta \otimes \kappa)(s) dr$$
  

$$= \int_{G} ((\pi \otimes \lambda)(f(r) \otimes r)(1 \otimes M_{g}\rho(h))(\eta \otimes \kappa)(s) dr$$
  

$$= (\pi \otimes \mathrm{id}) \left( \int_{G} ((\mathrm{id} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta(f(r))(1 \otimes M_{g}\rho(h))(\eta \otimes \kappa)(s) dr \right)$$
  

$$= (\pi \otimes \mathrm{id})(\mathrm{id} \otimes \lambda) \circ \delta(f)(1 \otimes M_{g}\rho(h))(s)$$
  

$$= (\pi \otimes \mathrm{id}) \circ \Phi (k_{\mathscr{A}}(f)k_{C(G)}(g)k_{G}(h))(s).$$

#### References

- BUSS, ALCIDES; MEYER, RALF; ZHU, CHENCHANG. A higher category approach to twisted actions on C\*-algebras. arXiv:0908.0455v1.
- [2] DEACONU, VALENTIN; KUMJIAN, ALEX; RAMAZAN, BIRANT. Fell bundles and groupoid morphisms. *Math. Scand.* 103 (2008), no. 2, 305–319. MR2437192 (2010f:46086).
- [3] ECHTERHOFF, SIEGFRIED; KALISZEWSKI, S.; QUIGG, JOHN. Maximal coactions. Internat. J. Math. 14 (2004), 47–61. MR2039211 (2004j:46087), Zbl 1052.46051.
- [4] ECHTERHOFF, SIEGFRIED; KALISZEWSKI, S.; QUIGG, JOHN; RAEBURN, IAIN. A categorical approach to imprimitivity theorems for C<sup>\*</sup>-dynamical systems. Mem. Amer. Math. Soc. 180 (2006), no. 850, viii+169 pp. MR2203930 (2007m:46107), Zbl 1097.46042.
- [5] ECHTERHOFF, SIEGFRIED; QUIGG, JOHN. Full duality for coactions of discrete groups. Math. Scand. 90 (2002), 267–288. MR1895615 (2003g:46079), Zbl 1026.46058.
- [6] EXEL, RUY. Morita–Rieffel equivalence and spectral theory for integrable automorphism groups of C<sup>\*</sup>-algebras. J. Funct. Anal. **172** (2000), no. 2, 404–465. MR1753180 (2001h:46104), Zbl 0957.46040.
- [7] EXEL, RUY; NG, CHI-KEUNG. Approximation property of C\*-algebraic bundles. Math. Proc. Camb. Phil. Soc. 132 (2002), no. 3, 509–522. MR1891686 (2002k:46189), Zbl 1007.46057.
- [8] EYMARD, PIERRE. L'algèbre de Fourier d'un groupe localement compact Bull. Soc. Math. France 92 (1964), 181–236. MR0228628 (37 #4208), Zbl 0169.46403.
- [9] FELL, J. M. G. An extension of Mackey's method to algebraic bundles over finite groups. Amer. J. Math. 91 (1969), 203–238. MR0247469 (40 #735), Zbl 0191.02502.
- [10] FELL, J. M. G. An extension of Mackey's method to Banach \*-algebraic bundles. Memoirs of the American Mathematical Society, No. 90, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R.I., 1969. (41 #4255), Zbl 0194.44301.
- [11] FELL, J. M. G.; DORAN, R. S. Representations of \*-algebras, locally compact groups, and Banach \*-algebraic bundles. Vol. 1. Basic representation theory of groups and algebras. Pure and Applied Mathematics, 125. Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA, 1988. xviii+746 pp. ISBN: 0-12-252721-6. MR0936628 (90c:46001), Zbl 0652.46050.
- [12] FELL, J. M. G.; DORAN, R. S. Representations of \*-algebras, locally compact groups, and Banach \*-algebraic bundles. Vol. 2. Banach \*-algebraic bundles, induced representations, and the generalized Mackey analysis. Pure and Applied Mathematics, 126. *Academic Press, Inc., Boston, MA*, 1988. pp. i–viii and 747–1486. ISBN: 0-12-252722-4. MR0936629, Zbl 0652.46051.
- [13] LANDSTAD, M. B.; PHILLIPS, J.; RAEBURN, I.; SUTHERLAND, C. E. Representations of crossed products by coactions and principal bundles. *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* 299 (1987) 747–784. MR0869232 (88f:46127), Zbl 0722.46031.

- [14] MUHLY, PAUL S. Bundles over groupoids. Groupoids in analysis, geometry, and physics (Boulder, CO, 1999), 67–82. Contemp. Math., 282. Amer. Math. Soc., Providence, RI, 2001. MR1855243 (2003a:46085), Zbl 1011.46052.
- [15] MUHLY, PAUL S.; RENAULT, JEAN N.; WILLIAMS, DANA P. Equivalence and isomorphism for groupoid C<sup>\*</sup>-algebras. J. Operator Theory **17** (1987) 3–22. MR0873460 (88h:46123), Zbl 0645.46040.
- [16] MUHLY, PAUL S.; WILLIAMS, DANA P. Equivalence and disintegration theorems for Fell bundles and their C\*-algebras. Dissertationes Math. (Rozprawy Mat.) 456 (2008), 1–57. MR2446021 (2010b:46146), Zbl 1167.46040.
- [17] MUHLY, PAUL S.; WILLIAMS, DANA P. Renault's equivalence theorem for groupoid crossed products. NYJM Monographs, 3. State University of New York, University at Albany, Albany, NY, 2008. 87 pp. http://nyjm.albany.edu/m/2008/3.htm. MR2547343 (2010h:46112), Zbl 1191.46055.
- [18] NG, CHI-KEUNG. Discrete coactions on C<sup>\*</sup>-algebras. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 60 (1996), no. 1, 118–127. MR1364557 (97a:46093), Zbl 0852.46057.
- [19] QUIGG, JOHN C. Discrete C\*-coactions and C\*-algebraic bundles. J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. A 60 (1996) 204–221. MR1375586 (97c:46086), Zbl 0851.46047.
- [20] RAEBURN, IAIN. On crossed products by coactions and their representation theory. Proc. London Math. Soc. 64 (1992) 625–652. MR1153000 (93e:46080), Zbl 0722.46030.
- [21] RAEBURN, IAIN; WILLIAMS, DANA P. Morita equivalence and continuous-trace C\*-algebras. Math. Surveys and Monographs, 60. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 1998. xiv+327 pp. ISBN: 0-8218-0860-5. MR1634408 (2000c:46108), Zbl 0922.46050.
- [22] RENAULT, JEAN. A groupoid approach to C\*-algebras. Lecture Notes in Math., 793. Springer-Verlag, Berlin, 1980. ii+160 pp. ISBN: 3-540-09977-8. MR0584266 (82h:46075), Zbl 0433.46049.
- [23] RENAULT, JEAN. Représentation des produits croisés d'algèbres de groupoides. J. Operator Theory 18 (1987) 67–97. MR0912813 (89g:46108), Zbl 0659.46058.
- [24] WILLIAMS, DANA P. Crossed products of C\*-algebras. Mathematical Surveys and Monographs, 134. American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI, 2007. xvi+528 pp. ISBN: 978-0-8218-4242-3; 0-8218-4242-0. MR2288954 (2007m:46003), Zbl 1119.46002.
- [25] YAMAGAMI, S. On the ideal structure of  $C^*$ -algebras over locally compact groupoids. Preprint, 1987.

School of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona 85287

kaliszewski@asu.edu

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, THE UNIVERSITY OF IOWA, IOWA CITY, IA 52242 pmuhly@math.uiowa.edu

School of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Arizona State University, Tempe, Arizona 85287

quigg@asu.edu

Department of Mathematics, Dartmouth College, Hanover, NH  $03755\,\,\tt dana.williams@dartmouth.edu$ 

This paper is available via http://nyjm.albany.edu/j/2010/16-13.html.